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Much has been achieved in 
addressing the issue of crisis 
pregnancy since the Agency’s 
establishment in 2001. I am 
pleased to present the Agency’s 
Annual Report for 2008, which 

illustrates the strategic focus of the Agency’s work 
throughout the year, in addressing the issue of 
crisis pregnancy through a variety of programmes. 

Since its inception, the Agency has conducted research 
into many areas relating to crisis pregnancy to ensure 
that all of its work is developed from a firm evidence 
base. In 2008, the Agency and the Department of Health 
and Children released three sub-reports of the Irish Study 
of Sexual Health and Relationships (ISSHR), which is the 
largest study of sexual health ever undertaken in Ireland. 
The main report was published in 2006, and the three 
sub-reports provide further analysis of findings relating 
to first sexual experiences, service provision, sexual 
knowledge and attitudes. The findings will do much to 
inform future Agency projects, campaigns and policy 
proposals.

While all of the Agency’s activities are informed by 
research, the guidance of experts working in areas 
addressing crisis pregnancy is vital in ensuring that the 
Agency’s work is as well-informed and influential as 
possible. The Agency’s achievements in addressing the 
issue of crisis pregnancy can be largely attributed to the 
active involvement of a wide variety of stakeholders who 
assist the Agency on an ongoing basis. I would like to 
thank the Agency’s Consultative Committee, which is 
chaired by Geraldine Luddy on behalf of the Board, whose 
insights assisted greatly in the development of projects. 
I would also like to acknowledge the Health Service 
Executive (HSE) and the Health Protection Surveillance 
Centre (HPSC) for their input into materials produced as 
part of the Agency’s ‘Think Contraception’ Campaign. 

In 2008, the Agency began a consultation process which 
will inform the development of a campaign to encourage 
young people to delay early sex. The Agency engaged 
with over 40 people with expertise in sexual health and 

relationships and sex education, as well as 150 young 
people aged 14 and 15. We look forward to bringing this 
campaign to fruition in 2009.

Education about sexual health and relationships, both 
in schools and in the home, is vital to preventing the 
instance of crisis pregnancy. In 2008, the Agency 
signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the 
Department of Education and Science (DES), and this 
partnership will lead to the development of supports 
for schools and teachers in delivering relationships and 
sexuality education. As a first step in this direction, the 
Agency and the DES commissioned a project to study 
international findings relating to school-based sex 
education which is provided by outside facilitators, and 
we expect this to be completed in 2009.

The Agency funds fourteen different organisations to 
provide crisis pregnancy counselling across the country. 
It is imperative that all services funded by the Agency 
deliver the highest standards of care to those experiencing 
crisis pregnancy. In November, the graduates of the 
first certificate course in crisis pregnancy counselling 
ever to be conducted in Ireland were conferred by the 
National University of Ireland, Maynooth. This course was 
designed to support the development of crisis pregnancy 
counselling skills. The 30 graduates work at Agency 
funded centres across the country. The Agency has 
committed to funding a second year of this training course 
which commenced in October 2008. 

Foreword from the Chairperson

“In 2008, the Agency began a 
consultation process which will 
inform the development of a 
campaign to encourage young 
people to delay early sex”
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I would like to extend my sincere thanks to all of the 
organisations, agencies and individuals who have so 
generously given of their time and expertise to assist 
with the Agency’s work throughout 2008. I would like to 
thank the members of the Board for their commitment 
and guidance during the year and also Dr. Margret Fine-
Davis and Noreen O’Kelly for their valued involvement in 
the Research and Policy Subcommittee and the Finance 
and Audit Subcommittee respectively. 

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank the 
Minister for Health and Children, Mary Harney, T.D., 
whose continued support has greatly assisted the Agency 
in addressing its mandates, and also the many officials 
at the Department of Health and Children who have 
worked with the Agency throughout 2008. 

Lastly, I would like to thank the Director, Caroline 
Spillane, the management team and staff for their hard 
work, commitment and enthusiasm. As part of the 
Government’s wider review of State Agencies, it was 
announced in October that the Agency is to merge 
with the HSE. The Agency has outlined the provision of 

value for money as a strategic priority and welcomes the 
opportunities and efficiencies that will result from the 
merger. The evolving economic situation in Ireland will 
impact on society as a whole, and the Agency will strive 
to adapt and respond to the changing needs of those 
experiencing crisis pregnancy.

Katharine Bulbulia
Chairperson

Minister for Health and Children, Mary Harney, T.D.,  
Katharine Bulbulia, Chairperson and Caroline Spillane, Director,  
at the launch of the 2007 Annual Report in July.

Sub-report 3 of the Irish Study of Sexual Health and Relationships, which 
was published in 2008.

Foreword from the Chairperson
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The past year has been a productive 
one for the Agency and great 
progress has been made in delivering 
our second strategic plan “Leading 
an Integrated Approach to Reducing 
Crisis Pregnancy 2007-2011”. 

The importance of implementing effective and innovative 
sexual health campaigns to promote positive behavioural 
change is highlighted in the Agency’s Strategy. The ‘Real 
Deal’ sexual health and personal development programme 
is an innovative approach to addressing knowledge gaps 
among young people who have left school early. The 
training programme, which is funded by the Agency, was 
delivered by six specifically trained peer educators who 
had been teenage mothers themselves. The programme 
provided information on sexual health while incorporating 
the peer educators’ own experiences and was delivered 
to 44 young women in counties Dublin and Kildare. 
Following a successful evaluation in 2008, the Agency will 
continue to support this programme in 2009. 

A commitment to promoting best practices to deliver 
the highest standard of care to those experiencing crisis 
pregnancy, was the foundation for the development 
of the Toolkit for establishing and managing a crisis 
pregnancy counselling service. The Toolkit was 
developed in 2008 and copies were issued to all crisis 
pregnancy related counselling services funded by the 
Agency. This Toolkit aims to assist organisations in the 
establishment of new services and to provide guidance 
for all organisations funded by the Agency on topics 
pertaining to the management, organisation and 
operation of services. Two new outreach services, one in 
Dingle, Co. Kerry and one in Gorey, Co. Wexford were 
opened in 2008.

The Agency is mandated to reduce the number of 
women who opt for abortion as an outcome of crisis 
pregnancy. In 2008, 4,600 women travelled from Ireland 
to the UK for abortion services. The numbers of women 
travelling from Ireland, published by the UK Department 
of Health, have fallen for the seventh successive 
year, marking a decrease of 31% since the Agency’s 

establishment in 2001. The Agency has developed a 
monitoring system to gauge the numbers of women 
travelling to other EU jurisdictions for an abortion. Data 
collected by the Agency for the period 2005-2008 
indicates that over 90% of women travel to the U.K. 
for abortion services. In 2008, similar to other years, 
the Netherlands emerged as the only other country to 
which Irish women are travelling in significant numbers. 
Approximately 330 women travelled to the Netherlands 
in 2008 for abortion services. The Agency will continue 
to closely monitor trends in the destination and numbers 
of women travelling from Ireland for abortion services in 
the future.

It is important that all women, who obtain a termination 
abroad, are aware of the services and supports that are 
available in Ireland on their return. One of the Agency’s 
strategic priorities is to deliver improvements in the 
availability and accessibility of post-abortion services. The 
Agency funds free medical check-ups and counselling 
services in Ireland for women who have had an abortion. 
In November 2008, the Agency launched an “Abortion 
Aftercare” campaign to promote the availability of free 
post-abortion medical and counselling services, details of 
the services can be found by visiting abortionaftercare.ie  
or by freetexting AFTERCARE to 50444. In the first two 
months of the campaign, there were 2,395 visitors 
to abortionaftercare.ie, while 654 SMS requests for 
information were received. In 2008, there was an increase 
of 12% in the number of post-abortion medical check-
ups funded by the Agency. Data from service providers 
on the numbers of post-abortion check-ups shows 
that approximately 13.8% of women are availing of 
State-funded post-abortion services. The proportion of 
women accessing these post-abortion services has been 
growing since 2005. The Agency will strive to further raise 
awareness of these services throughout 2009.

The Agency could not implement its strategy without the 
expertise of the many organisations and individuals who 
partner with us to address the issue of crisis pregnancy 
on a diverse range of projects and programmes. I would 
like to offer my sincere thanks to all of those who 
contributed to and assisted in our work, with particular 

Introduction and Overview  
of 2008 by the Director
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emphasis on those who deliver crisis pregnancy and 
post-abortion counselling in Ireland. 

On behalf of the staff, I would like to thank the Agency’s 
Chairperson Katharine Bulbulia and the members of 
the Board for their unwavering support and guidance 
during 2008. I would also like to thank the Consultative 
Committee for the time and expertise they provided to 
the Agency.

Finally, I wish to thank the Agency’s staff for their 
dedication and hard work throughout the year. Much 
has been achieved by the Agency since its establishment, 
and I look forward to collaborating in the coming 
years to fully implement our Strategy for 2007-2011. 
Collectively we will continue our efforts to prevent crisis 
pregnancy while working closely with our colleagues in 
the Health Service Executive.

Caroline Spillane
Director

Introduction and Overview

“The Agency launched an 
‘Abortion Aftercare’ campaign 
to promote the availability of 
free post-abortion medical 
and counselling services”
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Role of the Agency

The Crisis Pregnancy Agency was established in 
October 2001 under the Health (Corporate Bodies) 
Act, 1961, and is governed by the Crisis Pregnancy 
Agency (Establishment) Order 2001 (S.I. No. 446 of 
2001) as amended by the Crisis Pregnancy Agency 
(Establishment) Order 2001 (Amendment) Order 
2007 (S.I. No. 175 of 2007). 

The primary function of the Agency, as set down in 
the Statutory Instrument, is to prepare and implement 
a Strategy to address the issue of crisis pregnancy, in 
consultation with relevant Departments of State and 
with such other persons as are considered appropriate. 

The purpose of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency is to bring 
strategic focus to the issue of crisis pregnancy and so 
to add further value to the work of existing service 
providers. The Agency’s second Strategy - ‘Leading an 
Integrated Approach to Reducing Crisis Pregnancy 2007 
- 2011’ - was developed and published in 2007. 

The Strategy and Mandates of the 
Agency

The Strategy is the mechanism by which the Agency 
achieves the objectives set out in the three mandates 
specified in the Statutory Instrument. 

Mandate 1: A reduction in the number of crisis 
pregnancies by the provision of education, advice and 
contraceptive services.
Mandate 2: A reduction in the number of women 
with crisis pregnancies who opt for abortion by offering 
services and supports which make other options more 
attractive.
Mandate 3: The provision of counselling services, 
medical services and such other health services for the 
purpose of providing support, after crisis pregnancy, as 
may be deemed appropriate by the Agency.

The Agency’s Way of Working

Vision
Through the Strategy the Agency works to achieve its 
Vision for a future where:

Pregnancy and parenting are a welcomed and positive 
experience for women, their partners and families. 

Crisis pregnancies are experienced less often, but when 
they do occur, women can face and manage the crisis 
without fear for the future because appropriate support 
is available no matter what choice they make.

Mission
The Crisis Pregnancy Agency was established to:

 Develop and support the implementation of a ■■

national Strategy to address the issue of crisis 
pregnancy, in consultation and partnership with 
Departments of State and relevant agencies and 
stakeholders. 
 Work in partnership with the appropriate agencies ■■

and stakeholders to promote and co-ordinate 
the attainment of the objectives contained in the 
Strategy.
 Promote the development by the Departments of ■■

State and appropriate agencies of an operational 
plan to implement the Strategy in its own sphere of 
responsibility. Monitor and review the attainment of 
the objectives of such operational plans.
 Produce periodic reports on progress and propose ■■

remedial action where required.
 Take such measures and engage in such activities as ■■

it considers necessary to address the issue of crisis 
pregnancy. 
 Draw up codes of good practice for consideration by ■■

agencies and individuals involved in providing services 
to women with crisis pregnancies.
 Promote and commission research into aspects of ■■

crisis pregnancy as considered necessary.
 Furnish, whenever it is so required by the Minister or ■■

on its own initiative, advice to the Minister or other 
Ministers of the Government on issues relating to 
crisis pregnancy.
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Role of the Agency

 Perform any other functions in relation to crisis ■■

pregnancy that the Minister may from time to time 
assign to it.

Working Principles

The working principles of the Agency are underpinned 
by a Code of Ethics developed when the Agency was 
established. This is shown in full in Appendix 1.

Working
Principles

Courageous

Innovative

Solution
Focused

Evidence
Based

People
Centred

Objective

Value
Partnership

Value
Consultation

Accountable
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Structure of the Agency

The Board

The Board of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency comprises 
representatives of specified Departments of State and 
key relevant health disciplines and individuals with 
other specific expertise relevant to the operation of the 
Agency. The Board is an independent body with funding 
provided by the Government, as recommended by the 
All-party Oireachtas Committee on Health and Children. 

The Board members, appointed by the Minister for 
Health and Children, Mary Harney, T.D., began their five-
year term on 1st December 2006. 

The Board of the Agency met 11 times in 2008. 

Subcommittees

The Board and the Executive of the Agency are 
supported in their work by a range of Subcommittees 
and these include:

Counselling (Manual and Training)
Oversees the development of the Standardised 
Framework for ‘Crisis Pregnancy Counselling Skills – A 
Practice Guide’ and the delivery of an accredited training 
course in crisis pregnancy counselling skills. 

Finance and Audit
Advises the Board on all matters relating to the financial 
management of the Agency. 

Funding
Advises the Board in relation to the development and 
management of the Agency’s funding programme.
 
Programmes and Communications
Advises on and oversees the development of the 
programmes and communications campaigns of the 
Agency. 

Research and Policy
Advises the Board in relation to all matters pertaining to 
the research and policy function. 

Rationalisation
Advises the Board on the integration of the Agency into 
the Health Service Executive.
 
Staff
Advises the Board on issues relating to human resource 
management in the Agency.
 
Performance/Remuneration
Sets and assesses the performance of the Director of the 
Agency. 

All Board members sit on a number of Subcommittees 
of the Agency: membership and Chairs are shown on 
page 9.
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Structure of the Agency

Board Members and Subcommittee 
Membership at 31 December 2008

Katharine Bulbulia, Chairperson
Programmes & Communications, Staff 
(Chairperson), Rationalisation (Chairperson), 
Performance/Remuneration (Chairperson)

Maureen Bohan, Department of 
Education and Science
Research & Policy (Chairperson from July 
2008), Staff 

Jimmy Duggan, Department of Health 
and Children (Board Member from May 
2008)
Funding, Performance/Remuneration (from 
May 2008)

Helen Faughnan, Department of Social 
and Family Affairs
Finance & Audit (Chairperson from July 
2008), Research & Policy (Chairperson to 
June 2008), Rationalisation

Peter Finnegan, Businessperson
Programmes & Communications 
(Chairperson), Rationalisation

Cllr. Sally-Ann Flanagan
Funding, Programmes & Communications

Dr. Anne Flood, Health Service Executive
Counselling (Manual and Training) 
(Chairperson), Research & Policy, 
Performance/Remuneration

Fergal Goodman, Department of Health 
and Children (Board Member to April 
2008)
Finance & Audit (Chairperson), Funding, 
Performance/Remuneration (all to April 2008)

Rosemary Grant, Coombe Women & 
Infants University Hospital
Counselling (Manual and Training), Funding 
(Chairperson)

Geraldine Luddy, The Women’s Health 
Council
Consultative Committee (Chairperson), 
Finance & Audit, Programmes and 
Communications, Performance/
Remuneration

The Subcommittees are supported in their work by two 
external experts who sit on the Subcommittees:

Dr. Margret Fine-Davis, Trinity College Dublin
Research & Policy
Noreen O’Kelly, Businessperson
Finance & Audit

The Executive of the Agency provided support to the 
Subcommittees during the year through attendance 
at and provision of information, documentation and 
administrative support to Subcommittee meetings.



10 – Crisis Pregnancy Agency Annual Report 2008

Structure of the Agency

The Consultative Committee

The Statutory Instrument provides for the establishment 
of a 25-member committee, drawing on the expertise of 
various statutory and non-statutory organisations. 

The Consultative Committee members, appointed by the 
Minister for Health and Children, provide expert advice 
to the Board of the Agency and the Committee acts as a 
forum for organisations that have an interest in the work 
of the Agency to present their views. The function of 
the Consultative Committee is “to advise the Agency in 
relation to (a) any matters pertaining to crisis pregnancy 
as are referred to it by the Agency and (b) any other 
matters coming within the remit of the Agency.”

The Committee is chaired by Geraldine Luddy on behalf 
of the Board.

The Consultative Committee met to discuss the following 
topics during 2008:

Creating a communications campaign to delay first 
sexual activity among adolescents (March).

Creating a communications campaign to address the 
information and awareness needs of women regarding 
the availability of free and confidential post-abortion 
medical and counselling services (June).

Developing and disseminating good-practice guidelines 
on addressing and presenting the choice of adoption in 
crisis pregnancy counselling and on the development of 
referral pathways for adoption (September).

The development of good-practice guidelines on areas 
such as concealment of pregnancy and delivery of 
crisis pregnancy services for clients with an intellectual 
disability (November).

A full list of Consultative Committee members is 
given in Appendix 5.

The Executive of the Agency

The Agency has 15 members of staff. The internal 
structure of the Agency is outlined below. Staff members 
are current as at 31 December 2008.

Sarah Ryan held the position of Acting Administration 
Manager from June to November 2008. Lynn Dowling 
held the position of Acting Funding Officer from June to 
November 2008.

Details of other staff members who held positions for 
part of the year are included in Appendix 6.

Roisin Guiry
Programmes & 

Communications Assistant

Enda Saul
Programmes & 

Communications Manager

Dr. Stephanie O’Keeffe
Research & Policy

Manager

Fiona Larthwell
Administration Manager

Caroline Spillane
Director

Lorna Farren
Programmes & 

Communications Officer

Orla McGowan
Education & Information

Officer

Sarah Murphy
Research Assistant

Mary Smith
Research Officer

Maeve O’Brien
Policy Officer

Marsha Williams
Receptionist / Director’s PA

Patricia Wallace
Accounts Clerk

Lynn Dowling
Administration Assistant

Sarah Ryan
Funding Officer

Aoife Kelly
Administration Officer
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Structure of the Agency

In 2007 the Agency developed and launched its 
strategic plan for how it would address the issue of crisis 
pregnancy in Ireland, building on the positive work that 
had been done under the Agency’s first Strategy (2004 
– 2006).

The approach the Agency took in developing the 
Strategy was to identify a number of strategic priorities 
that would help it to address three central objectives 
which derive from its mandates:

To reduce the number of crisis pregnancies.■■

 To reduce the number of women choosing abortion ■■

as an outcome of crisis pregnancy.
 To safeguard women’s physical and mental health ■■

following termination of pregnancy.

For the five-year period of the Strategy the Agency is 
focusing its work around seven key priorities:

Knowledge about relationships and sexuality for 
adolescents
Achieving measurable improvements in knowledge about 
relationships and sexuality among adolescents through 
home-, school-, and community-based education.

Contraception
Improving access to and information on contraception 
and contraceptive services – particularly for groups at risk 
of crisis pregnancy.

Communications
Conducting effective and innovative communications 
campaigns to promote positive behavioural and cultural 
changes regarding sexual attitudes, choices and 
behaviour.

Crisis pregnancy services
Improving access to and delivery of crisis pregnancy 
counselling services and post-abortion medical and 
counselling services. 

Continuation of pregnancy
Improving the range and nature of supports central 

to making continuation of pregnancy more attractive. 
Ensuring that women, their partners and families are 
fully informed about these supports. 

Research 
Strengthening understanding of the contributory 
factors and solutions to crisis pregnancy. Using research 
findings to promote evidence-based practice and policy 
development.

Policy influence 
Influencing policy makers and key players regarding 
prevention of crisis pregnancy, reproductive decision-
making and crisis pregnancy outcomes. 

Internal Strategic Priorities
The Agency also identified a number of internal strategic 
priorities to ensure that support systems are in place to 
deliver the Strategy successfully.

All functions of the Agency (Administration, Funding, 
Programmes and Communications, Research and Policy) 
contribute to the development and implementation of 
projects that fulfil the strategic objectives. The 2008 
Annual Report is structured to show how the Agency has 
made progress against priority areas during the year.

Chairperson Katharine Bulbulia, (4th from left) and Cllr. Laura McGonigle 
(5th from left), with Board members Cllr. Sally-Ann Flanagan, Dr. Anne Flood, 
Helen Faughnan, Jimmy Duggan, Rosemary Grant and Maureen Bohan at a 
reception for those working to address the issue of crisis pregnancy in Cork 
in September.

Strategic Objectives
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To achieve measureable improvements in 
knowledge about relationships and sexuality 
among adolescents through home-, school- and 
community-based education.

Relationships and sexuality education plays a critical role 
in preventing crisis pregnancy. Young people report that 
they want more and better relationships and sexuality 
education, which is not solely based on the biological 
aspects of sex and they want it delivered across a range 
of settings. The Department of Education and Science has 
made great efforts to improve the implementation of the 
Relationships and Sexuality (RSE) programme, including 
increasing the number of inspectors for Social, Personal 
and Health Education (SPHE) and incorporating SPHE/RSE 
evaluation criteria into Whole School Evaluation. 
 
Sex education is not solely the responsibility of schools; 
parents have a significant role to play. To assist them, 
the Agency has produced a wide range of resources for 
parents, with tips and advice on talking to their children 
about relationships and sexual health. 

The Agency also funds a range of community-based 
projects to develop and deliver relationships and sexuality 
education to at-risk groups, such as early school-leavers. 

During 2008, the Agency’s main focus was on 
developing resources to assist and support teachers and 
youth workers in delivering RSE at senior cycle and on 
funding projects aimed at young people.

TRUST Resource
Research previously published by the Department of 
Education and Science and the Agency found that a 
barrier to full implementation of Relationships and 
Sexuality Education (RSE) was the lack of adequate 
resource materials that acknowledged the reality of 
adolescents’ social experiences and the challenges 
they face. Based on these findings, the Agency, the 
Department of Education and Science and the HSE 
worked in partnership to deliver a resource for teachers 
of senior-cycle students in the delivery of RSE.

The Talking Relationships, Understanding Sexuality 
Teaching (TRUST) Resource consists of a 40-minute 
DVD and 21 lesson plans. The DVD includes interviews 
with teenagers and interviews with experts on 
contraception, sexually transmitted infections and 
crisis pregnancy, together with an interview with 
Clinical Psychologist, David Coleman. The lesson 
plan topics include: What We Value in Relationships, 
Communicating Our Boundaries, Sexual Orientation, 
Responsible Relationships, Fertility, Contraception and 
Crisis Pregnancy. The resource also provides the most 
up-to-date research findings for teachers to assist them 
in initiating classroom discussion and debate.

The TRUST resource is available through training to 
teachers and youth workers. TRUST was used as part 
of the RSE training of 349 teachers in 2008 and will be 
rolled out across schools in 2009.

Busy Bodies
Busy Bodies is a colourful illustrated guide to help 
parents and teachers provide basic information to 
young people between the ages of 10 – 14 years on 
the physical and emotional changes that they may 
experience during puberty in an age-appropriate and 
positive way. 

Strategic Priority 1
Knowledge about Relationships & Sexuality for Adolescents
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The booklet was produced by the HSE working in 
partnership with the RSE Support Service, the National 
Parents Council (Primary) and the Agency. It is available 
in Irish and English and supports the delivery of the RSE 
module within the Social Personal and Health Education 
(SPHE) school curriculum. The booklet complements the 
Busy Bodies DVD, which has been in use for a number of 
years in primary schools nationally. 

The guide was officially launched in April in Cork, with 
consultant clinical psychologist and author Dr. Tony 
Humphreys as a guest speaker. To raise awareness of the 
availability of the resource, a flyer was sent to all primary 
schools to publicise the resource, and approximately 
64,000 copies of the booklet were ordered by schools. 
Parents could order the resource using a freetext service, 
which was set up by the Agency and was promoted 
through ongoing public relations activities.

Implementation of Relationships and 
Sexuality Education (RSE) in Schools
The Agency has an established partnership with 
the Department of Education and Science in 
commissioning research on RSE in the context 
of Social, Personal and Health Education (SPHE). 
During the year the partners signed a Memorandum 
of Understanding to progress further initiatives in 
this important area. A joint project focusing on the 
engagement of ‘outside facilitators’ (or ‘visitors’) in 
teaching RSE/SPHE was initiated in 2008. 

The Agency knows from previous research commissioned 
with the Department of Education and Science that 
approximately 40% of schools use outside facilitators to 
help deliver RSE. More needs to be known about the role 
of outside facilitators in the delivery of school-based RSE. 

In 2008, the Agency worked with the Department of 
Education and Science to form a steering group to plan 
and oversee a project to examine the range, type and 
role of outside facilitators in the context of RSE. The 
project is a phased one; the first stage is a review of the 
relevant international literature, commissioned by the 
Agency in 2008. The final report of this literature review 

is due in the spring of 2009. The ultimate aim of the 
project is to improve coordination and support good 
practice in this important area. 

The Real Deal
The ‘Real Deal’ project, delivered by Newbridge and Dun 
Laoghaire Community Training Centres, is an innovative 
sexual health and personal development programme. 
The ‘Real Deal’ was one of a number of new projects 
whose funding started in 2007, following a national 
call for new projects to address specific areas, including 
knowledge gaps in RSE among young people who are 
early school-leavers.

The training programme was delivered by six specifically 
trained peer educators who had been teenage mothers. 
The peer educators received training in facilitation 
and presentation skills to deliver the programme, with 
assistance from the project coordinators and others. 
A training manual was developed by the coordinators 
and the peer educators to ensure that the programme 
content was based on accurate information and relevant 
experiences; this resulted in a manual which was well 
received by young people taking part in the programme. 
The programme was delivered to 44 young women in 
two community training centres and two Youthreach 
centres in counties Dublin and Kildare. 

Following successful independent evaluation during 
2008, the Agency will continue to support this 
programme into 2009.

Young people report that 
they want more and better 
relationships and sexuality 
education, which is not solely 
based on the biological 
aspects of sex

Strategic Priority 1
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Strategic Priority 1 Knowledge about Relationships & Sexuality for Adolescents

Ongoing work on Relationships and 
Sexuality Education (RSE)
The Agency supported a broad range of different projects 
that provide personal development and relationships 
education and information on contraception for young 
people, including, but not limited to:

 Two pilot Teenage Health Initiatives for Young Men, ■■

focusing on personal development, relationships, 
teenage health issues and sexual health (with 
Blanchardstown Youth Service and with Carrick-on-
Suir Neighbourhood Youth Project)
 The Zone, Exit and Squashy Couch youth cafés, which ■■

provide a youth-friendly space with sexual and related 
health information and a personal development 
service in Blanchardstown, Tallaght and Waterford 
(with Foróige and the HSE South)
 The Youth Health Service Family Planning Project ■■

– a comprehensive sexual health, information and 
counselling service for young people under 25 (with 
the HSE South)
 The development and delivery of a comprehensive ■■

and holistic sexual health and personal development 
education pilot programme for young women 
experiencing social exclusion in Co. Donegal (with 

Letterkenny Women’s Centre) 
 The ’Safer Teen Open Programme’ pilot, a sexual ■■

health and personal development programme for 
teenagers aged 13-15 at risk of early or unplanned 
pregnancy (with Limerick Youth Service)
 A programme delivered as part of outside facilitation ■■

in RSE in a school setting (with Pact, Dublin)
 The ‘Getting Real’ pilot programme, a personal ■■

development programme for adolescents who are at 
risk of becoming early school-leavers or who are early 
school-leavers (with the SouthWest Counselling Centre, 
through Youthreach and schools in County Kerry)

The full list of funded services is included in 
Appendix 2.

Distribution of the ‘Parents, make the time to talk’ 
supplement continued in 2008 through the freetext 
service. To order a copy of the supplement, parents can 
freetext TALK followed by their name and address to 
50444. 4,572 copies were disseminated in total. 

130,000 copies of the ‘You Can Talk To Me’ DVD and 
booklet were disseminated in a special parenting issue 
of the RTÉ Guide in April 2008. A further 3,200 were 
ordered through the freetext service and upon request. 
Parents can freetext PARENT followed by their name and 
address to 50444 to order a copy of the resources. 

Financial Summary 2008

Project €

TRUST Resource Nil cost

Busy Bodies 2,723

Implementation of RSE in Schools 15,289

The Real Deal 24,500

Other RSE resources 127,064

Other youth-focused funded projects 662,859

Total 832,435

 Projects with nil cost were either conducted internally or expenditure was 
incurred in previous years
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To improve the access to and information 
on contraception and contraceptive services, 
particularly for groups at risk of crisis pregnancy. 

Research commissioned by the Agency has contributed 
to an improved understanding of why couples have 
unprotected sex when they do not want to become 
pregnant. What has emerged from this knowledge is the 
importance of recognising how various factors can play a 
part in crisis pregnancy prevention. In addition, research 
has enabled the profiling and targeting of key at-risk 
groups such as young people aged 18-24, people who 
had first sex before the age of 17, women aged 35-55 
and individuals who have had poor access to education 
opportunities or who are economically disadvantaged.

The Agency has developed health education campaigns 
in order to promote the use of contraception and also 
funds a range of different projects that work with those 
most at risk.

During 2008, the Agency’s main focus was on expanding 
its research in this area, developing its campaigns and 
funding new projects and services.

Sub-reports of the Irish Study of Sexual 
Health and Relationships (ISSHR)
The Agency in partnership with the Department of 
Health and Children completed the production of three 
sub-reports emanating from the influential Irish Study of 
Sexual Health and Relationships (ISSHR). This research 
was conducted by a team of researchers from the Royal 
College of Surgeons in Ireland (RCSI) and the Economic 
and Social Research Institute (ESRI), led by Professors 
Hannah McGee and Richard Layte. 

The sub-reports present a deeper level of analysis of data 
than that presented in the main ISSHR report in 2006 
and they each present a substantial body of knowledge 
on sexual attitudes and behaviours in contemporary 
Ireland. The reports cover data examining: Learning 
about sex and first sexual experiences (Sub-report 1); 
Sexual health challenges and related service provision 
(Sub-report 2); and Sexual knowledge, attitudes and 

behaviours – a further analysis (Sub-report 3). 

A one-day seminar was held in April to launch the sub-
reports and to disseminate the findings of the report 
to practitioners, researchers, policy makers and service 

providers working in the area of sexual health. The 
event was well attended and was positively evaluated by 
participants.

Cost of contraception
The Agency committed to examining policy proposals on 
how the cost of contraception can be minimised in order 
to facilitate consistent contraceptive use among specific 
risk groups (such as young men and young women who 
are economically and educationally disadvantaged). 

Following a profiling exercise to identify groups that  
find the cost of contraception prohibitive, the Agency 
commissioned a literature and policy review of 
international peer-reviewed publications in this area. The 
review sought to outline research evidence on how and 
if cost impacts upon access to and use of contraception 
and what models of service delivery were found to be 
related to consistent contraceptive use. For example, the 
review considered whether or not contraceptive options 
improve the effectiveness of the use of contraceptives, 
and whether or not Long Acting Reversible Contraceptive 
(LARC) methods are more cost-effective and user-
effective than other methods.

Strategic Priority 2
Contraception

The Agency committed to 
examining policy proposals on 
how the cost of contraception 
can be minimised in order 
to facilitate consistent 
contraceptive use among 
specific risk groups
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Strategic Priority 2 Contraception

In addition, the Agency met with various specialists 
to look at current policy and practice in this area. 
Opportunities for development were explored and a set 
of policy proposals were outlined in 2008. A stakeholder 
management and engagement plan in the area of cost 
of contraception was developed to increase the impact 
of dissemination and influencing strategies. A range 
of stakeholders have been approached to examine 
the feasibility of policy proposals. This will feed into a 
programme of testing policy proposals in 2009. 

Long Acting Reversible Contraception
Research shows that Long Acting Reversible 
Contraceptive (LARC) devices such as the Intra-Uterine 
Device (IUD), Intra-Uterine System (IUS), Sub-Dermal 
Implants and hormone injections are effective both in 
terms of use and cost. Based on these findings, the 
Agency is seeking to promote an increase in the uptake 
of such methods. The Agency partnered with the Irish 
College of General Practitioners (ICGP) to support 
the design and piloting of an independent externally 
accredited training programme for primary health care 
professionals in the training for all methods of LARC. 

This pilot represents the initiation of the first such 
accredited training programme in Ireland. The 
programme works to ensure standardised teaching 
and training and also includes a framework for re-

accreditation to ensure that standards are maintained. 
The pilot aims to work towards the development of an 
education programme that will result in the awarding of 
an Advanced Certificate in Family Planning. 

The pilot commenced in 2008 and will run for three 
years. In its initial stages the pilot is being run by the 
ICGP in the Leinster and Munster areas; however, 
the ICGP and the Agency intend that this will roll out 
nationally, subject to the results of an evaluation of the 
programme. 

The ‘Think Contraception’ health 
education outreach campaign
The ‘Think Contraception’ outreach campaign is a key 
part of the Agency’s response to its first mandate: 
the prevention of crisis pregnancy by the provision of 
education, advice and contraceptive services.

Each ‘Think Contraception’ tin which is distributed as 
part of the campaign contains an individually boxed 
condom and a sexual health information leaflet that 
highlights the importance of using contraception to 
prevent unplanned pregnancies and protect against 
sexually transmitted infections (STIs). These tins are 
distributed to young adults at events where risk taking 
behaviour can occur, for example at music events or 
during bank holiday weekends. 

Pictured at the launch of the Irish Study of Sexual Health and Relationships Sub-Reports are:  Dr Nazih Eldin, HSE, Caroline Spillane, Director, Dr. Stephanie 
O’Keeffe, Research & Policy Manager, Professor Hannah McGee, RCSI, Olive McGovern, Department of Health and Children, Professor Richard Layte, ESRI.
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A highlight of the campaign in 2008 was the distribution 
of 30,000 tins at the Oxegen music festival. The 
Agency has been working in partnership with music 
promoters MCD to raise awareness of sexual health 
at music festivals each summer since Witness in 2003. 
The initiative received significant media attention and 
coverage. The campaign ran from January to July 
2008, and 39,250 items were distributed to the target 
group of young adults. The Agency has also worked on 
researching and developing a new ‘Think Contraception’ 
promotional item for 2009.

Continuing work to promote the use of 
contraception
The Agency continues to provide grant funding to Dublin 
Well Woman to provide an emergency contraception 
clinic, including some hours outside of normal GP 
hours. The Agency funded the Youth Health Service 
(YHS) Family Planning Project until June 2008 when the 
funding was transferred to the Health Service Executive 
for this project. The Agency continues to fund the YHS 
to provide a youth focused crisis pregnancy counselling 
and support service for young adults under 25. 

A number of the services that the Agency funds under its 
first strategic priority, which are aimed at educating and 
informing young people, also provide age-appropriate 
information on safer sex. (See Appendix 2 for list of 
funded services.)

Financial Summary 2008 

Project ¤

Sub-reports of ISSHR 29,753 

Cost of Contraception 7,986

Long Acting Reversible 
Contraception (LARC)

40,000

Think Contraception promotional 
campaign

26,676

Other contraception-focused funded 
projects

147,690

Total 252,105

Strategic Priority 2

Each ‘Think Contraception’ 
tin which is distributed 
as part of the campaign 
contains an individually 
boxed condom and a sexual 
health information leaflet that 
highlights the importance of 
using contraception to prevent 
unplanned pregnancies 
and protect against sexually 
transmitted infections (STIs). 

30,000 ‘Think Contraception’ tins were distributed at the Oxegen  
festival in July 2008.
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To conduct effective and innovative 
communications campaigns to promote positive 
behavioural and cultural changes regarding sexual 
attitudes, choices and behaviours.

Developing and delivering relevant and effective health 
education programmes is a core activity of the Agency. 
Providing trustworthy and legitimate information for 
people at risk of and experiencing crisis pregnancy 
needs an integrated approach across all possible 
media channels. In line with the Agency’s practices 
since its inception, all campaigns are evidence-based, 
non-judgemental, developed in consultation with key 
stakeholders and focus on empowering individuals to 
make informed choices about their sexual health.

During 2008 the main focus of the Agency’s 
Programmes and Communications function was on the 
redevelopment of the ‘Think Contraception’ campaign, 
the development of a new ‘Abortion Aftercare’ 
campaign and the development of two pilot ‘Positive 
Options’ campaigns aimed at promoting services to 
foreign national communities and men.

‘Think Contraception’ health education 
campaign redevelopment
The ‘Think Contraception’ health education campaign is 
primarily aimed at sexually active 18-24 year olds and is 
the principal communications campaign that addresses 
the public education component of the Agency’s first 
mandate. The campaign was redeveloped and launched 
in October 2008, with new television, radio, print and 
online advertising supporting the message that “Nobody 
else is going to do the thinking for you” when it comes 
to contraception use. 

The campaign focuses on promoting the 
thinkcontraception.ie website as a key educational 
tool which will provide information on all aspects of 
sexual health, including contraception, fertility and 
sexually transmitted infections, in an interactive and 
user-friendly manner. The website was developed with 
input from both the Health Service Executive (HSE) 
and the Health Protection Surveillance Centre (HPSC). 

Thinkcontraception.ie received 44,905 visits in 2008.  
Over 13,000 people visited the site in the two months 
directly following the campaign launch (November and 
December), an increase of 128% compared with the 
same period in 2007.  

Independent research conducted by Lansdowne Market 
Research in December 2008 found that 79% of the 
target audience were aware of the new campaign and 
its messages, while 84% believed that, having seen the 
campaign, people would be very likely or fairly likely to 
use contraception consistently. 

‘Positive Options’
The ‘Positive Options’ campaign continued with its 
TV, cinema, radio and print advertising with the aim 
of raising awareness of the availability of free, State-
funded crisis pregnancy counselling services. These 
initiatives have resulted in an increase in the number 
of people accessing such services. In 2008, 72% of the 
target audience was aware of the ‘Positive Options’ 
campaign and its message that “an unplanned 
pregnancy is not the end of the world”. 73,116 
‘Positive Options’ leaflets and 99,867 wallet cards were 
distributed, primarily to GP surgeries, pharmacies and 
colleges. The website positiveoptions.ie received 58,469 
visits, an increase of 78% compared with 2007. 34,215 
text messages were received requesting crisis pregnancy 
counselling information. 

Strategic Priority 3
Communications

Katharine Bulbulia, Chairperson and Enda Saul, Programmes and Communi-
cations Manager at the Think Contraception launch in October 2008.
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The Agency also developed two new pilot initiatives 
to encourage the use of crisis pregnancy counselling 
services by men and by members of the Polish 
community, which was the largest non-Irish community 
in Ireland in 2008. To promote awareness of crisis 
pregnancy counselling for men, the Agency created a 
specific ‘Positive Options’ poster campaign, which was 
featured in 60 male washroom sites in the Cork area in 
November 2008. The Agency developed a webpage for 
men on positiveoptions.ie and a dedicated SMS service 
to assist with the evaluation of the pilot programme. 
482 requests for information were received via the 
SMS service, while the men’s webpage received 571 
visitors. The second initiative to promote crisis pregnancy 
services included the promotion of the ‘Positive Options’ 
campaign in Polish and placing advertisements in Polish 
language publications in the last quarter of 2008. A 
dedicated SMS service was also developed specifically 
for the Polish community. The evaluations of both 
pilot campaigns will inform future development of the 
‘Positive Options’ campaign.

The Agency continued its programme of placing 
regionalised advertising in the Golden Pages. In addition 
to promoting crisis pregnancy counselling services under 
the ‘Positive Options’ banner, it is important that the 
Agency has a strong presence in these directories. 

‘Abortion Aftercare’
To deliver on its third mandate, the Agency, in 
collaboration with Agency-funded crisis pregnancy 

counselling service 
providers, implemented 
a new ‘Abortion 
Aftercare’ campaign in 
November 2008. The 
campaign promotes 
the availability of free 
post-abortion medical 
and counselling services 
to women in Ireland in 
Agency-funded services, 
general practitioners and 
family planning centres. 
It is recommended that 

women receive medical check-ups three weeks after an 
abortion, while free post-abortion counselling is also 
available if a woman wishes to discuss her feelings after 
an abortion. Access to free post-abortion medical check-
ups are available through eight services nationwide. 
Free post-abortion counselling is available through all 
counselling services funded by the Agency nationwide.

The campaign consists of targeted advertising in 
women’s magazines and online advertising which 
promote a freetext service and an information website 
- abortionaftercare.ie. Over the two months that 
the campaign ran in 2008, there were 2,395 visitors 
to abortionaftercare.ie, while 654 SMS requests for 
information were received.  

Disseminating resources and developing 
the Agency’s communications channels
Part of the work of the Agency is to achieve cultural 
change with respect to the issue of crisis pregnancy in 
Ireland and to build and retain the identity of the Agency 
as an authoritative, influential and trustworthy voice on 
sexual health and crisis pregnancy issues.

In order to achieve this objective, the Agency engages in 
a number of initiatives including: the ongoing publication 
of an e-zine, regularly issuing press releases on the 
work of the Agency, responding to ongoing media 
enquiries, briefing journalists and relevant stakeholders 
on emerging issues with respect to crisis pregnancy, 

All campaigns are evidence-
based, non-judgemental, 
developed in consultation with 
key stakeholders and focus on 
empowering individuals to 
make informed choices about 
their sexual health

Strategic Priority 3
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providing spokespeople to feature on T.V. and radio 
programmes and in newspaper and online articles. The 
Agency also presents at conferences, seminars and third-
level institutions and works with media organisations 
to provide material for any work that relates to the 
issue of prevention of crisis pregnancy, coping with an 
unplanned pregnancy or post-abortion issues. 
The Agency’s website contains comprehensive 
information relating to crisis pregnancy including 
research reports, press releases and information 
resources. The website is frequently up-dated and 
received 52,594 visits in 2008. The Minister for Health 
and Children, Mary Harney, T.D., launched the Agency’s 
2007 Annual Report in July.

The Agency also continued raising awareness amongst 
groups at risk of crisis pregnancy, in particular, women 
over the age of 35, who are at risk for a variety of 
reasons including poor use of contraception compared 
to younger groups and an unsupported perception that 
they are experiencing early menopause. To address this, 
75,953 ‘Contraception 35-55’ leaflets were distributed: 
20,953 at GP surgeries and pharmacies and 55,000 at 
the Women’s Mini Marathon and the ‘Off the Rails’ 
fashion event.  

Other communications programmes
The Agency created and distributed a variety of 
education and information resources to the general 
public to support those who deal with the prevention 
and management of crisis pregnancy in the course of 
their work.

As part of building a campaign to delay early sex 
among adolescents, the Agency conducted an extensive 
consultation process: the Agency engaged with over 40 
people with expertise in sexual health, relationships and 
sex education and working with young people. 

Having devised a set of possible messages for this 
campaign, the Agency spoke to 150 young people aged 
14 and 15 to obtain their feedback. A report on the 
consultations was produced to inform the development 
of this new campaign, which will be published in 2009.

The Agency also created and printed a variety of 
education and information resources for the general 
public and to support those professionals who deal with 
the prevention and management of crisis pregnancy in 
the course of their work.

 

Financial Summary 2008 

Project €

Think Contraception campaign and 
redevelopment

910,570

Positive Options campaign 732,909

Positive Options advertising in Golden 
Pages 

109,192

Positive Options SMS service 29,378

Abortion Aftercare campaign 40,450

Disseminating resources and 
developing the Agency’s 
communication channels

94,366

Other communications programmes 150,610

Total 2,067,475
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To improve access to and delivery of crisis 
pregnancy counselling services and post-abortion 
medical and counselling services. 

The Agency’s aim is to ensure that free crisis pregnancy 
counselling is available to a woman to allow her to have 
a safe space to discuss and assess her circumstances 
and choices and to support her in making an informed 
decision. The Agency funds a wide range of organisations 
to provide crisis pregnancy counselling. These organisations 
vary in terms of their ethos and the mechanisms for service 
delivery. The Agency also funds organisations to provide 
medical check-ups and counselling services to women after 
they have had an abortion abroad. Evidence suggests that 
some women do not attend services that they need either 
because they are not aware of them, they do not recognise 
the value of counselling or because of the perceived stigma 
around abortion.

It is a priority for the Agency to ensure that all women 
who want to use a crisis pregnancy counselling service or 
post-abortion medical service can access a service within 
a reasonable distance and that all services throughout 
the country operate to consistently high standards.

During 2008, the Agency’s main focus was on facilitating 
improvements in the knowledge and skills of crisis 
pregnancy counsellors as well as on the establishment of 
new crisis pregnancy counselling services based on local 
and national need.

Certificate in Crisis Pregnancy 
Counselling Skills
In 2006 the Agency commissioned the National University 
of Ireland, Maynooth (NUIM) to develop a pilot training 
course in Crisis Pregnancy Counselling Skills, as it is a 
unique field of counselling. The course was developed 
in order to ensure that trained counsellors, whether 
professional or volunteer, would have the opportunity to 
develop further their skills by attending bespoke training 
in good practice in the area of crisis pregnancy. 

Although the course started in 2007, the majority of the 
training was delivered in 2008. The course was delivered 

to 30 participants from five crisis pregnancy counselling 
services in receipt of Agency funding, and a graduation 
ceremony took place in November 2008. The graduation 
was presided over by the Dean of Learning and Professor 
of Education at NUIM, Professor Tom Collins, and the 
Chairperson of the Agency, Katharine Bulbulia.

Following an internal interim evaluation, the Agency 
approved funding for a second year of the course, which 
started in October 2008. 

Mapping exercise and needs analysis 
In order to support future planning and development of 
crisis pregnancy and post-abortion services nationally, 
the Agency commissioned a mapping exercise and future 
needs analysis for crisis pregnancy counselling.

The project includes:
 integrating Geographical Information Systems (GIS) ■■

technology, crisis pregnancy data, health datasets 
and population data to support planning and 
development of crisis pregnancy and post-abortion 
services on a nationwide basis into the future.
 identifying anticipated need for services based on ■■

population projections.
 quantifying where demand for crisis pregnancy ■■

counselling and post-abortion services is currently 
being met.

Strategic Priority 4
Crisis Pregnancy Services

Graduates of the certificate course in crisis pregnancy counselling skills in 
the NUI Maynooth, November 2008.
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 identifying where service demand is lacking and ■■

where there is insufficient service demand for existing 
or potential crisis pregnancy and post-abortion 
services.
 planning a number of options for future provision of ■■

services.

It is the Agency’s intention that outputs from this exercise 
will enable it to plan future service development in line 
with the objectives of the health services transformation 
programme and the National Primary Care Strategy. It will 
also ensure that crisis pregnancy counselling and post-
abortion services are available and accessible to women 
locally and strategically, based on need. 

Crisis Pregnancy Counselling Service 
Development
The Agency currently supports the delivery of crisis 
pregnancy and post-termination counselling services 
through service level agreements with 14 service 
providers operating in over 50 locations nationwide. This 
range of services provides clients with a choice based on 
service provider and geographic preferences.

Two new outreach services were opened in 2008. A 
service was opened in Gorey, Co. Wexford by the Irish 
Family Planning Association (IFPA) in response to the 
recent significant increase in population in the area. 
CURA opened a new outreach centre in Dingle, Co. 
Kerry, in response to the difficulties women in that area 
have in accessing more regional services. 

Toolkit: Establishing and Managing a 
Crisis Pregnancy Counselling Service 
The Agency developed a manual, the ‘Toolkit’, to assist 
organisations that are in the process of setting up new 
crisis pregnancy counselling services funded by the 
Agency as well as more recently established services. The 
Toolkit was developed after consulting with organisations 
experienced in delivering crisis pregnancy counselling and 
by using best practice in the healthcare sector.

The Toolkit covers a wide range of topics that includes 

assisting organisations in planning services, developing 
operational policies and procedures, running smoothly 
and evaluating results. Although the primary focus of the 
Toolkit is on newer organisations, it also aims to provide 
existing services with a useful operational checklist.

The Toolkit was published in late 2008 and copies were 
sent out to Agency-funded crisis pregnancy counselling 
service providers and other relevant organisations in 2008. 
Feedback from organisations using the manual has been 
very positive.

Ongoing Crisis Pregnancy and Post-
Abortion Services
Crisis pregnancy counselling and post-abortion 
counselling services are provided by 14 voluntary 
and statutory organisations under contract with the 
Agency. Details of services delivered through the funded 
organisations are provided in the ‘Positive Options’ 
leaflet produced by the Agency.

Post-abortion medical check-up services are funded by 
the Agency and provided by the following services:

Dublin Well Woman■■

Femplus■■

Liam O’Callaghan, Local Health Manager Laois Offaly HSE Dublin Mid Lein-
ster, Caroline Spillane, Director, Sheilagh-Reaper Reynolds, Health Promotion 
Functional Manager HSE Dublin Mid Leinster and Dr. Jonathan Egan, Director 
of Counselling, HSE at the launch of the Key Contacts resource.
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Tralee Women’s Health and Family Planning Clinic■■

Midlands Crisis Pregnancy Counselling Service ■■

Irish Family Planning Association ■■

The Sexual Health Centre■■

Cork Family Planning Centre■■

Limerick Family Planning Centre■■

The full list of funded services is included in 
Appendix 2.

The majority of crisis pregnancy counselling service 
providers have been providing such services for a number of 
years; however, the Agency always seeks to work with the 
organisations to find better ways of delivering client centred 
services. Recent developments include the opening of new 
outreach centres, and the funding of a pilot programme 
with the Midlands Crisis Pregnancy Service to engage men 
with the counselling process.

The Agency works to ensure that crisis pregnancy services 
work with local health providers and are linked with local 
organisations. Several of the organisations funded by the 
Agency are also supported by local HSE organisations, and 
the West Cork Service is also supported by the Dunmanway 
Family Resource Centre.

As well as offering funding to all services to send their 
counsellors on the Crisis Pregnancy Skills training course, 
the Agency provides grant assistance to individual services 
to facilitate professional supervision and training for 
counsellors.

In 2008, the Agency and the HSE Dublin Mid Leinster 
launched a ‘Key Contacts’ resource: “Responding to 
Crisis Pregnancy: Information and Service Directory 
for Community and Health Professionals”. This is an 
information resource for health professionals and 
community workers in HSE Dublin Mid Leinster who may 
be the first point of contact for women experiencing a crisis 
pregnancy. The resource is divided into five sections with 
basic information on topics such as teenage pregnancy, 
supporting adult women, crisis pregnancy counselling 
services, rights and entitlements after childbirth, and 
adoption services. The resource was funded by the Agency 
and is one of a series of resources developed under 
the banner of “Key Contacts” for the prevention and 
management of crisis pregnancy.

Financial Summary 2008 

Project ¤

Certificate in Crisis Pregnancy 
Counselling Skills

67,010 

Mapping exercise and needs analysis 17,253

Crisis pregnancy counselling service 
development

23,720

Toolkit: Establishing and Managing a 
Crisis Pregnancy Counselling Service

33,012

Established crisis pregnancy 
counselling services

2,431,386

Established post-abortion medical 
and counselling services

96,273

Total 2,668,654

Strategic Priority 4

It is a priority for the Agency 
to ensure that all women who 
want to use a crisis pregnancy 
counselling service or post-
abortion medical service 
can access a service within a 
reasonable distance and that 
all services throughout the 
country operate to consistently 
high standards.
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To improve the range and nature of supports 
central to making continuation of pregnancy more 
attractive. To ensure that women, their partners 
and families are fully informed about these 
supports.

There are a large number of factors that affect whether 
or not a woman opts to continue with a pregnancy, 
including relationship issues, childcare, finance, work, 
career, perceived stigma, poverty, feelings of being 
unable to cope, or being too young to have a child, 
and perceptions about the role the father can play. 
The Agency works to ensure that women and men 
experiencing crisis pregnancy, as well as their families, 
are given access to supports that are aimed at helping to 
alleviate these concerns where possible.

During 2008, this priority was primarily addressed by 
providing grant funding to a number of organisations for 
a mixture of new and existing initiatives. These initiatives 
included targeted support for young fathers, for young 
mothers experiencing deprivation, and information for 
parents who are not married to each other.
 

Father Focus 
The ‘Father Focus’ project delivered by Louth Teen Parent 
Support Programme (TPSP) in partnership with the HSE 
Dublin North East, is a new project aimed at supporting 
young fathers. ‘Father Focus’ was one of a number of 
newly established funded projects set up to address 
specific areas, including increasing the awareness and 
engagement of men in order to support their partners 
during crisis pregnancy and parenting by making services 
more accessible.

The programme is aimed at addressing obstacles facing 
young fathers in supporting their partners during crisis 
pregnancy and in participating in parenting and includes:
 

 examining the key issues that prevent young fathers ■■

being involved in the upbringing and lives of their 
children.
 identifying support services and reviewing their access ■■

and uptake by young fathers.

 identifying the support needs and skills requirements ■■

of young fathers.

The outputs from the programme include a key findings 
report for service managers and policy makers, an 
information booklet for young fathers and a resource 
pack that aims to meet the needs of young fathers and 
those who work with them. 

CURA – Post Natal Support Service Pilot
The development of a support programme for new 
parents and in particular young mothers availing of crisis 
pregnancy counselling services provided by CURA is also 
one of a number of newly established projects set up to 
address specific areas, including the provision of training 
and support for new parents – particularly young parents 
– living in areas of high deprivation.
 
The programme aims to provide additional training to 
current volunteers who work with CURA to enable them 
to provide postnatal support to parents, including:

 supporting new, young parents in their role as ■■

parents. 
 ensuring new, young parents are equipped with the ■■

Strategic Priority 5
Continuation of Pregnancy

Cover of the ‘Father Focus’ Resource Pack. The programme, funded by the 
Agency aimed to address obstacles facing young fathers in supporting their 
partners during crisis pregnancy.
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practical information they need to support them in 
their role as parents.
 linking new, young parents with other local services ■■

and programmes, including parenting courses, young 
mothers’ support groups, personal development 
programmes, counselling services, Money Advice 
and Budgeting Services, career guidance services and 
further education and training.

The project has three stages, the first of which started 
in 2008 with the development, in partnership with an 
academic institution, of a training module for CURA 
volunteers that covers areas such as child development 
and listening skills. The training will be piloted in a 
number of centres and, subject to the results of an 
independent evaluation, will be rolled out across other 
CURA centres as required. 

Supported accommodation
The Agency funds a range of voluntary services providing 
accommodation for young girls and women who are 
pregnant or are lone mothers, who may be without a 

home as a result of crisis pregnancy, including: 
 LIFE Galway Shelter Supported Accommodation ■■

Service.
 Limerick Social Service Council Pre-Natal ■■

Accommodation Service.
 Limerick Social Service Council Post-Natal ■■

Accommodation Service.
 Spring Gardens Supported Accommodation Service, ■■

Waterford.

There are a total of 39 pre- and post-natal places 
available for women in these services. In addition to 
providing much needed accommodation in a supportive 
and welcoming environment, these organisations provide 
access to workshops or support programmes either on 
site or through local agencies. The training and supports 
provided may take the form of parenting support 
programmes, workshops on financial management or 
other practical information on rights and entitlements. 
Services also provide ongoing outreach support to 
former clients as required in order to alleviate the sense 
of isolation that some clients may feel after moving on to 
independent living. 

There are a large number of 
factors that affect whether or 
not a woman opts to continue 
with a pregnancy, including 
relationship issues, childcare, 
finance, work, career, perceived 
stigma, poverty, feelings of 
being unable to cope, or being 
too young to have a child, and 
perceptions about the role the 
father can play

The Agency funded Treoir’s publication of the ‘Young Parents Survival Guide’ 
in 2008.

Strategic Priority 5
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Strategic Priority 5 Continuation of Pregnancy

Partnership with Treoir, the National 
Federation of Services for Unmarried 
Parents and their Children
As part of the Agency’s commitment to working in 
partnership with organisations and producing high-
quality resources that are related to crisis pregnancy 
and are in line with the Agency’s mandates, the Agency 
provided funding to and worked with Treoir, the 
National Federation for Unmarried Parents, to produce 
the following resources:

 “Information Pack for parents who are not married to ■■

each other”: this resource provides information on a 
large variety of topics that are relevant to unmarried 
parents so that they can make informed decisions 
regarding their situation.
 “Information for Young Parents in Education”: this ■■

resource provides accurate up-to-date information 
to young parents on educational opportunities and 
associated topics. 
 “Young Parents Survival Guide”: this colourful ■■

magazine style resource makes information available 
to young parents in an easy and accessible format 
to assist them in making appropriate decisions 
concerning their family life.  

Ongoing services supporting the 
continuation of pregnancy
The Agency supported a broad range of different 
projects that provide support, training and information to 
parents throughout the country, including programmes 
aimed at supporting:

  Young mothers and fathers in Carrick-on-Suir and ■■

Limerick (with Carrick-on-Suir Neighbourhood Youth 
Project and Limerick Social Service Council through 
the Parent Support Programme, Limerick).
 Young mothers to remain in or return to education ■■

(with Youth Work Ireland, Galway). 
 

 Parents, through courses (with SouthWest ■■

Counselling Centre, Killarney and Kerry Counselling 
Centre, Tralee).

 Parents in education (with Mary Immaculate College, ■■

Limerick).
 One-parent families (with One Family, Dublin).■■

 Mothers considering adoption (with Cúnamh, ■■

Dublin).
 Families (with the HSE West through University ■■

College Hospital, Galway). 
Unmarried Parents (with Treoir), Dublin.■■

The full list of funded services is included in 
Appendix 2.

Financial Summary 2008

Project ¤

Father Focus 47,250 

CURA – Post natal supports pilot 6,600

Supported Accommodation 283,450

Resources developed through Treoir 103,087

Other services supporting the 
continuation of pregnancy

789,117

Total 1,229,504

...training and supports 
provided may take the 
form of parenting support 
programmes, workshops on 
financial management or other 
practical information on rights 
and entitlements...
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To strengthen understanding of the contributory 
factors and solutions to crisis pregnancy; to use 
research findings to promote evidence-based 
practice and policy development.

Since its establishment, the Agency has invested 
significantly in research in order to have an authoritative, 
independent voice in an area where there can be public 
and professional dissent. The Agency has established a 
highly regarded and widely referenced research function 
which has enabled it to assess need, prioritise areas 
for action, raise awareness, co-opt project partners, 
and implement evidence informed approaches in the 
funding, communications and policy arenas.

During 2008 the main focus of the Agency’s Research 
Function was on managing the production of new 
research reports, establishing research partnerships, 
commissioning new research, managing ongoing studies 
and providing research and evaluation support to other 
functional areas within the Agency. 2008 also saw the 
establishment of a formal policy arm to the Research 
Function as a result of the identification in the Strategy 
of policy influence as a new priority for the Agency.

Research also continued to act as a key component 
of the work under all strategic priorities; in 2008 this 
included the work on the outside facilitation of RSE 
discussed under Priority 1 and the production and launch 
of the ISSHR sub-reports discussed under Priority 2.

‘Guidelines for Health Professionals 
Working in Maternity Settings on 
the Care of Women with Concealed 
Pregnancy’
The Agency, in conjunction with the HSE West, completed 
the production of ‘Guidelines for Health Professionals 
Working in Maternity Settings on the Care of Women 
with Concealed Pregnancy’. These guidelines were 
developed following a set of recommendations arising 
from the study ‘Concealed Pregnancy: A case study 
approach from an Irish setting’ commissioned by the 
Agency and the HSE West in 2006 and researched by 

Ms. Catherine Conlon, University College Dublin. The 
new guidelines, written by Ms. Conlon, seek to support a 
holistic, integrated approach for providing for the care of 
women who present late to services and have concealed 
their pregnancy. The guidelines are specifically for health 
care professionals working in maternity settings. It has 
sections for midwifery, social work, obstetrics, paediatrics, 
antenatal/parentcraft and administration teams. A 
team of social workers from the HSE West contributed 
to the development of the guidelines, in addition to a 
large number of health professionals, spanning several 
disciplines, who commented on early drafts of the 
guidelines. A number of presentations on the new 
guidelines were organised in 2008; the presentations 
were targeted at groups of professionals most relevant 
to its implementation. A launch and dissemination of the 
guidelines nationwide is planned for 2009. 

The new guidelines seek to 
support a holistic, integrated 
approach for providing for the 
care of women who present 
late to services and have 
concealed their pregnancy.

Strategic Priority 6
Research
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‘Parents’ Approaches to Educating their 
Pre-Adolescent and Adolescent Children 
about Sexuality’ 
This research report, finalised in 2008, addresses the 
important issue of parent-child communication about sex. 
The research aimed to explore the range of approaches 
parents use in communicating with their children of 
different ages regarding sex. The research involved in-
depth analysis of qualitative data from 43 interviews with 
parents. It examined: what parents understand their role 
as educators to be; what cultural and contextual issues 
affect communication between parents and children 
about sex; what differences and similarities exist between 
mothers and fathers as sex educators; what patterns of 
variation exist among groups of parents as educators 
(e.g. based on demographic factors). The findings of this 
report are an important addition to our understanding 
of this complex and important area. Moreover, policy 
development in relation to supporting parents in their role 
as sex educators will be informed by the recommendations 
of the study. The recommendations highlight the potential 
for parent-school liaison for the Relationship and Sexuality 
Education (RSE) component of Social Personal and Health 
Education (SPHE) in post-primary schools. The research 
was conducted by Dr. Abbey Hyde, Ms. Marie Carney, Mr. 
Jonathan Drennan, Ms. Michelle Butler and Ms. Etaoine 
Howlett, University College Dublin, and Dr. Maria Lohan, 
Queen’s University, Belfast. The report will be formally 
launched and disseminated in 2009.

‘Psychological Effects of Abortion on 
Women’ 
The Agency commissioned a literature review to inform 
initiatives in the area of post-abortion counselling and 
supports. The report ‘Psychological Effects of Abortion 
on Women: A Review of the Literature’ was completed 
in 2007 and in 2008 it was published and disseminated 
among professionals and service providers. Knowledge 
about how a woman may respond to making a decision 
to have an abortion is an important part of a counsellor’s 
work, and yet it can be difficult for service providers and 
women themselves to make sense of the sometimes 
seemingly contradictory findings on the effects of 

abortion. In order to standardise and assure the 
quality of care given to a woman in a crisis pregnancy 
situation, it is vital that there is clarity on this issue. In 
commissioning this review the Agency aimed to provide 
a clear overview of research conducted in this area, 
and to synthesise findings where possible. The research 
report was written by Dr. Margret Fine-Davis, Trinity 
College Dublin. The report was also used to inform the 
delivery of a workshop on abortion and crisis pregnancy 
counselling by the National University of Ireland, 
Maynooth in their Agency-funded crisis pregnancy 
counselling skills course.

Women travelling to countries other than 
the UK for abortion
The Agency is committed to careful monitoring of 
indices of crisis pregnancy, and compiling statistics 
for Irish women seeking abortion abroad is central to 
this monitoring process. The evidence indicates that 
the majority of women travelling from Ireland seeking 
abortion choose to do so in the UK. The Agency 
completed a report on the relatively recent trend of 
women seeking abortion in countries other than the 
UK. The Agency developed a robust system to monitor 
trends in relation to a number of EU countries in 2008 
and formalised data-gathering arrangements in those 
clinics where trends were emerging. Findings strongly 
suggested that women were travelling in increasing 
numbers to one destination other than the UK to avail 
of abortion services (the Netherlands). The number 
travelling to the Netherlands increased significantly 
from 2005 to 2006 and appears to have levelled off 
in 2007 and 2008. Less than 10% of women travel 
to the Netherlands, with the majority of women still 
travelling to the UK. This report was completed for the 
years 2005-2007. This work fed into the development 
of the ‘Abortion Aftercare’ communications campaign. 
In addition to targeting women in Ireland, this campaign 
also works with clinics in the UK and the Netherlands to 
promote the availability of free post-abortion medical 
and counselling services in Ireland. 
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Several other projects were initiated and 
managed in 2008 
These include:

 ■■ Guidelines for counsellors and GPs in dealing 
with women with an intellectual disability who 
experience crisis pregnancy

  The Agency has formed a new partnership with the 
National Disability Authority (NDA). The goal of this 
partnership is to develop guidelines for those providing 
counselling services for women with an intellectual 
disability who experience crisis pregnancy. As a first 
stage in this phased project, a review of the relevant 
international literature was commissioned. The final 
report on the literature review will be available in the 
summer of 2009. This will inform further stages in the 
development of the guidelines.
Male teenagers and crisis pregnancy■■

   A research project aiming to explore male teenagers’ 
attitudes and decision-making in relation to an 
unintended/crisis pregnancy is being conducted by a 
team of researchers led by Dr. Maria Lohan (Queen’s 
University Belfast). A secondary aim of this study is to 
develop and pilot an interactive DVD aimed at young 
boys to explore their attitudes on this topic. The DVD 
was developed in 2008 and the research is scheduled 
to be completed in early 2010.
Economically disadvantaged young men■■

  A research project aiming to explore issues of sexual 
responsibility and parenthood among young men 
from lower socioeconomic backgrounds continued in 
2008.  This research is scheduled for completion in 
2009.
Internal advice and evaluation support■■

  In 2008 the Research function worked very closely 
with the Programmes and Communications and 
Funding functions of the Agency to develop internal 
reports to support new campaigns, to provide advice 
on project/resource evaluation, to provide support 
with media work and to assist with research projects 
on crisis pregnancy counselling, planning and 
development.

Financial Summary 2008 

Project ¤

Concealed pregnancy guidelines 24,135 

‘Parents’ Approaches to Educating 
their Pre-Adolescent and Adolescent 
Children about Sexuality’

60,000

‘Psychological Effects of Abortion on 
Women’

Nil cost

Non-UK abortion research Nil cost

Crisis pregnancy and intellectual 
disability guidelines

11,964

Report on economically 
disadvantaged young men

56,913

Male teenagers and crisis pregnancy Nil cost

Internal advice and evaluation 
support

63,126

Total 216,138

Strategic Priority 6

Projects with nil cost were either conducted internally or expenditure was 
incurred in previous years
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To influence policymakers and key players 
regarding prevention of crisis pregnancy, 
reproductive decision-making and crisis pregnancy 
outcomes.

Policy development and influencing key decision-makers 
regarding crisis pregnancy prevention, reproductive 
decision making and crisis pregnancy outcomes is a 
growing part of the Agency’s work. The national policy 
environment has a direct impact on the mandates of the 
Agency.  Sexual health policies and policies concerning 
education, parenting and reproductive decision-making 
ultimately have an impact on individual’s attitudes, 
behaviours and experiences.  Policies on contraceptive 
service provision, access, cost and availability have 
an impact on consumer choice, behaviour and 
ultimately crisis pregnancy.  Addressing policy issues 
is a key priority.  The Research function provides a 
comprehensive platform from which to understand the 
policy environment and directions for change.

During 2008, the Agency’s main focus was on the 
development of a policy function within the Agency 
as well as initiating a range of new projects in this 
area. In March 2008, a Policy Officer was recruited 
by the Agency with responsibility for building a 
policy influencing profile for the Agency by pursuing 
specific policy areas outlined in the Strategy. Policy 
influence also acted as a key component of other 
strategic priorities, including the review of the cost of 
contraception discussed under Priority 2.

Crisis pregnancy and employment/
workplace policy
A number of initiatives were undertaken in 2008 to 
progress this important area. A report produced in 2007 
outlining the proceedings from a seminar, ‘The Workplace 
of the Future: Reconciling Pregnancy, Parenting and 
Employment’ was widely disseminated to raise the profile 
of issues that the Agency is concerned with. 

A new research project was commissioned in 2008 by 
the Agency, in collaboration with the Equality Authority 
and with support from the Department of Social and 

Family Affairs. This research is being conducted by a team 
from the Economic and Social Research Institute (ESRI) 
and Amárach Research. The research aims to assess the 
impact of the workplace on the employment patterns of 
women during pregnancy and after having a baby. The 
research will enable the Agency to: document the issues 
faced and the supports required by pregnant employees 
and parents; explore the employment factors that impact 
on determining a pregnancy as a crisis pregnancy; 
estimate levels of discrimination and understand causes 
of discrimination of this nature; and explore the factors 
that impact on women when deciding whether to return 
to work after having a child. The Agency is seeking to 
establish baseline data and increase understanding in this 
complex area with a view to developing evidence-based 
policy proposals on the link between the workplace and 
crisis pregnancy. This research will be continuing in 2009 
and is scheduled for completion in early 2010.

Development of policy indicator report 
In 2008 the Agency began a project aiming to 
capture and describe the range of policy areas that 
affect reproductive decision-making. This report will 
complement other statistical reports published by the 
Agency as it aims to capture the breadth of indicators 
the Agency uses to monitor its progress. Since its 

Strategic Priority 7
Policy Influence

Caroline Spillane, Director, Crisis Pregnancy Agency, Cllr. Laura McGonigle, 
who deputised for the Lord Mayor of Cork and Katharine Bulbulia, 
Chairperson in September. Cllr. McGonigle addressed a gathering of those 
who are working to address the issue of crisis pregnancy in Cork.
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inception, the Agency has published a number of 
statistical reports that track key baseline statistics and 
proxy indicators of crisis pregnancy. Data in relation to 
fertility, teenage fertility, abortion, adoption and lone 
parenting enable the Agency to monitor trends and also 
to track its work and performance. In addition, over 25 
research reports have been published by the Agency 
since 2002. Some of this work provides nationally 
representative attitudinal and behavioural measures, 
which also allow the Agency to track its performance 
and monitor trends that have a direct impact on crisis 
pregnancy (for example use of contraception, knowledge 
of emergency contraception). This research points to 
several social and economic policy fields that impact 
upon sexual behaviour, experience of crisis pregnancy, 
abortion and lone parenthood. The Agency has been 
tracking these policy indicators, and in 2008 work 
progressed on drafting a report that captures policy 
data and relates this to prevalence of crisis pregnancy, 
abortion and other proxy indicators. This report outlining 
policy indicators relating to crisis pregnancy decision-
making will be published in 2009. 

Stakeholder management and 
engagement plan
Projects on workplace policy and reproductive decision-
making and lowering the cost of contraception were 
initiated in 2008. Key organisations and individuals who 
either play an important role in these areas or who are 
influential in developing policies were identified with a 
view to engaging their expertise and views in the project 
development process. In addition, a number of meetings 
took place with important stakeholders – for example 
State Departments, State Agencies, NGOs, community 
groups and academics – to increase awareness of the 
Agency’s policy function and the impact of national 
policies on crisis pregnancy and crisis pregnancy decision-
making. The purpose of engaging with these groups is 
to create relationships that will support the Agency in 
achieving its key objectives and heighten the Agency’s 
influence in reaching its strategic goals. Throughout 
2009, stakeholders will continue to be strategically 
engaged in the Agency’s projects through targeted 
dissemination, and meetings will take place which will 

The Agency is seeking to 
establish baseline data and 
increase understanding in this 
complex area with a view to 
developing evidence-based 
policy proposals on the link 
between the workplace and 
crisis pregnancy.

Strategic Priority 7



32 – Crisis Pregnancy Agency Annual Report 2008

Strategic Priority 7 Policy Influence

contribute to the achievement of its strategic priorities. 
Through this process of collaborative engagement it is 
envisaged that the Agency will be better positioned to 
achieve its policy objectives.

Submissions
Monitoring the policy environment nationally and 
internationally is part of the policy function of the 
Agency. Where appropriate, the Agency attempts 
to share its knowledge and expertise where policy 
and legislation is being reviewed and/or developed. 
As part of this function the Agency inputs into the 
policy-making process. One way in which it does this 
is through submissions to Departments of State on the 
development of legislation and national strategies in 
relevant areas relating to the mandates of the Agency. In 
2008, the Agency:

  Made a submission to the Joint Oireachtas ■■

Committee on the Constitutional Amendment on 
Children. Subsequently the Agency received an 
invitation from the Chair of the Joint Oireachtas 
Committee to present before the committee in July 
2008. 
 Made a submission on The National Drugs Strategy ■■

2009 – 2016 to the Department of Health and 
Children. In it the Agency noted the need for 
guidelines for General Practitioners on holding 
consultations with drug-users in matters relating to 
sexual health, contraception and crisis pregnancy 
prevention.

 Made a submission on Community Pharmacy Services ■■

in Ireland to the HSE. The Agency acknowledged and 
supported community pharmacists who have and will 
play an increasingly important and visible role into 
the future in preventing crisis pregnancy and other 
adverse sexual health outcomes.
 Made a submission on the Health Information Bill. ■■

The Agency proposed legislative safeguards to 
ensure confidentiality is upheld and the development 
of guidelines for practitioners outlining clear 
ethical procedures in accessing and sharing health 
information for research purposes.

 

Financial Summary 2008 

Project ¤

Policy Influence Nil cost

Crisis pregnancy and 
employment/workplace policy

57,140

Development of policy indicator 
report

Nil cost

Stakeholder management and 
engagement plan

Nil cost

Submissions Nil cost

Total 57,140

Data in relation to fertility, 
teenage fertility, abortion, 
adoption and lone parenting 
enable the Agency to monitor 
trends and also to track its 
work and performance

Projects with nil cost were either conducted internally or expenditure was 
incurred in previous years
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As part of the process of producing the Strategy, 
the Agency’s Board and Executive identified a 
number of key areas where the Agency’s systems 
need to be of a high quality in order to meet the 
objectives of the Strategy.

The Strategy identifies these areas as:
Board structures.■■

Staff structure and skill base.■■

Core processes and systems.■■

 Monitoring the implementation and impact of the ■■

Strategy.
Partnership.■■

Value for money.■■

A number of projects were identified for the Agency to 
complete under each area and significant progress was 
made during the year.

Internal Strategic Priority 1
Ensure the Agency has appropriate Board structures 
in place to ensure effective delivery of the Strategy

The Agency’s governance structures, including the 
Board and Subcommittee structure reported on page 8, 
continue to provide the Agency with clear oversight and 
direction of its work. The Executive of the Agency works 
closely with the Board and Subcommittees to ensure that 
they have access to the information and training that 
they need in order to continue to be highly effective.

Recent developments include the production of an 
updated Corporate Governance Manual for the Agency. 
This manual enhances and develops the Agency’s 
Corporate Governance processes and ensures that 
the Agency carries on operating in a transparent and 
accountable manner.

The Board and the Executive produced a detailed Risk 
Register for the Agency, in order to ensure that any 
circumstances that might prevent the delivery of the 
Strategy are taken account of and addressed promptly.

The Board also received training from external experts 

on finance, governance and risk management and it 
continued to oversee the work of Internal Audit. 

Internal Strategic Priority 2
Ensure staff structure and skills base enable the 
priorities in the Strategy to be addressed effectively

The Agency developed a revised Performance 
Management Development System (PMDS), which aims 
to support and maximise staff productivity and ensure 
employee objectives are firmly linked to the Agency’s 
Strategy. Personal Training and Development Plans for 
each staff member which were derived from PMDS 
allowed the Agency to identify the training and skills 
development needs of staff members. These training needs 
were then addressed through a combination of external 
training courses, coaching and on-the-job learning. 

The Agency successfully recruited qualified and 
experienced employees and continued to develop 
the skills of existing employees through facilitating 
temporary ‘acting up’ and promotional opportunities 
wherever possible.

The Staff Subcommittee, which normally meets on an 
ad-hoc basis, continued to advise the Board during the 
year on issues relating to human resource management 
and met once during 2008.

Supporting the Strategic  
Priorities of the Agency

Chairperson and Staff of the Agency in 2008.
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Internal Strategic Priority 3
Strengthen the Agency’s core processes and 
systems and ensure they are sufficient to 
implement the plan

The Agency continually reviews its core processes and 
systems to ensure that they reflect good practice and 
implement external recommendations, such as those 
made by auditors.

Throughout the year, the Agency continued to produce 
accurate and timely monthly financial reports for the 
Board and managed the Agency’s expenditure and 
payroll processes. A review of grant funding provided to 
two service providers was carried out by the Agency’s 
Internal Auditors, who also conducted the annual review 
of the Agency’s internal financial controls. Results of the 
audits were positive.

The Agency recognises that information and 
communications technology systems are key factors in 
supporting the achievement of its objectives; therefore 
the Agency continued to develop these areas. A staff 
Intranet system which enhances communication and 
document management was introduced, which supports 
this aim. The Agency’s websites crisispregnancy.ie,  
abortionaftercare.ie, thinkcontraception.ie and 
positiveoptions.ie were also reviewed and developed 
during the year to ensure the functions and Strategy 
of the Agency are communicated in an effective and 
consistent manner. 

Internal Strategic Priority 4
Enable the Agency to monitor its implementation 
of the Strategy and to assess the impact of 
the Strategy on reducing the number of crisis 
pregnancies in Ireland

The Agency submits an annual Service Plan to the 
Department of Health and Children which includes a series 
of detailed objectives and key performance indicators 
that are derived from the Strategy. The Agency reports 
on progress against the Service Plan during the year and 
again at the year end.

The Agency continuously implements and monitors 
evaluation practices across all programmes of work 
and continues to monitor key indicators and statistics 
in relation to the prevalence of crisis pregnancy and 
abortion.

Internal Strategic Priority 5
Enter into partnerships with complementary 
organisations to ensure that the full ambition of 
this plan can be realised

The Agency seeks to work in partnership wherever 
possible. This ensures that the experiences and 
capabilities of organisations, statutory or voluntary, are 
combined to achieve common goals.

The Agency has signed a formal document called a 
‘Memorandum of Understanding’ with the Department 
of Education and Science. This document formalises 
our partnership with the Department to increase the 
implementation of Relationships and Sexuality Education 
in second-level schools. The Agency also worked closely 
with the Department of Education and Science and the 
Health Service Executive (HSE) on the development of the 
TRUST pack, and on research on outside facilitators.

The Agency also commenced negotiation with the Health 
Service Executive (HSE) on the development of a special 
partnership forum for the provision of information on 
sexual health, crisis pregnancy services and contraception 
services.

During the year, the Agency held two learning networks 
for all Agency-funded crisis pregnancy counsellors to 
exchange knowledge and information. 

Details of partnerships as they relate to strategic priorities 
are outlined in earlier sections.
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Supporting the Strategic Priorities of the Agency

Internal Strategic Priority 6
Provide value for money

The Agency is funded by the Government through the 
Department of Health and Children and continually 
strives to ensure it is accountable for its funding and 
to provide value for money to its stakeholders. As in 
previous years, the Agency prepared detailed budgets 
in order to enable it to monitor its expenditure carefully 
during the year. The Agency also produced regular 
financial reports both internally for the Board and 
Subcommittees, and externally for the Department of 
Health and Children. 

The Agency continued to successfully manage its 
commercial contracts through ongoing performance 
reviews and monitoring value for money in relation 
to these contracts. The Agency also reviewed its 
procurement processes to ensure it achieved value for 
money in all purchases. Selected employees attended 
procurement training to ensure that this aim could be 
achieved and that public procurement guidelines and 
regulations are consistently adhered to. 

The Agency continually worked to achieve a reduction 
in its administrative costs through negotiating best 
price contracts, fully utilising internal expertise, 
deferring recruitment or recruiting internally to ensure 
the proportion of administrative costs against service 
provision remained reasonable.

The Agency also continues to monitor closely the use of 
funding provided through the grant programme to other 
organisations. The Agency has Service Level Agreements 
(SLAs) in place with over 30 organisations and all of 
these SLAs contain detailed reporting requirements, 
including financial, statistical and qualitative reporting 
against key performance indicators. A sample of 
organisations is also selected each year for review by the 
Agency’s internal auditors.

Financial Summary 

Internal Strategic Priority ¤

1 – Corporate Governance 1,692

1 – Board training 3,952

2 – Development of PMDS 2,850

3 – Internal audit of funding 7,487

3 – Development of staff 
intranet

1,065

4 – Monitoring of Strategy 
implementation

Nil cost

5 – Development of partnerships Nil cost

5 – Crisis Pregnancy Counsellor 
Learning Networks

108

6 – Achievement of value for 
money

Nil cost

Internal expenditure by 
functions

66,081

Staff and establishment 
commitments

1,347,827

Total 1,431,062

1  Knowledge about RSE

2  Contraception

3  Communications

4  Crisis Pregnancy Services

5  Continuation of Pregnancy

6  Research

7  Policy Influence

Internal
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Section 17 of Statutory Instrument No. 446 of 2001 Crisis Pregnancy Agency (Establishment) 
Order, 2001, as amended by the Crisis Pregnancy Agency (Establishment) Order 2001 
(Amendment) Order 2007 (S.I. No. 175 of 2007) requires the Board to keep all proper and usual 
accounts of all moneys received or expended by it including an income and expenditure account 
and a balance sheet. 

In preparing those financial statements, the Board is required to:
select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;■■

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;■■

 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless a decision is taken for the ■■

Agency not to continue in operation; and
 follow applicable accounting standards, subject to any material departures disclosed and ■■

explained in the financial statements.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper books of account that disclose, with reasonable accuracy 
at any time, the financial position of the Board and that enable it to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with Section 17 of Statutory Instrument 446, 2001, as amended by the Crisis 
Pregnancy Agency (Establishment) Order 2001 (Amendment) Order 2007 (S.I. No. 175 of 2007). The 
books of account are held at the Agency’s headquarters at 89 – 94 Capel Street, Dublin 1. The Board 
is also responsible for safeguarding its assets and for taking reasonable steps to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.

The Board confirms that it has complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial 
statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board:

Chairperson   

Director    

Statement of Responsibilities  
of the Board
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On behalf of the Board of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency, I acknowledge our responsibility for 
ensuring that an effective system of internal financial control is maintained and operated.

The system can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded, 
transactions authorised and properly recorded, and that material errors or irregularities are either 
prevented or would be detected in a timely period.

The Board has taken steps to ensure an appropriate control environment is in place by:
clearly defining management responsibilities and powers;■■

 establishing formal procedures for monitoring the activities and safeguarding the assets of the ■■

organisation; and
developing a culture of accountability across all levels of the organisation.■■

The system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management 
information, administration procedures including segregation of duties, and a system of delegation 
and accountability. In particular, it includes:

 a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual budget that is reviewed and agreed by the ■■

Board;
 regular reviews by the Board of periodic and annual financial reports that measure financial ■■

performance against forecasts;
setting targets to measure financial and other performance; and ■■

formal project management disciplines.■■

The internal audit function is overseen by the Finance and Audit Subcommittee of the Board in line 
with the Framework standards set out in the Code of Governance of State Bodies. The internal 
audit function provided the Board with a report on the adequacy and effectiveness of the system 
of internal financial control during the year. No significant concerns were highlighted by this 
report.

The Finance and Audit Subcommittee also oversees the work of the senior management within 
the Agency who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the financial control 
framework and for implementing the comments made by the Comptroller and Auditor General in 
his management letter.

I confirm that the internal financial control system was reviewed by the Board.

Signed on behalf of the Board:

Chairperson   

Statement on Internal  
Financial Control
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I have audited the financial statements of the Crisis 
Pregnancy Agency for the year ended 31 December 
2008 under Section 5 of the Comptroller and Auditor 
General (Amendment) Act 1993.

The financial statements, which have been prepared 
under the accounting policies set out therein, comprise 
the Statement of Accounting Policies, the Income and 
Expenditure Account, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow 
Statement and the related notes.

Respective Responsibilities of the Agency and the 
Comptroller and Auditor General
The Crisis Pregnancy Agency is responsible for preparing 
the financial statements in accordance with the Crisis 
Pregnancy Agency (Establishment) Order 2001 and for 
ensuring the regularity of transactions. The Agency 
prepares the financial statements in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland as 
modified by the directions of the Minister for Health and 
Children in relation to accounting for superannuation 
costs. The accounting responsibilities of the Members 
of the Agency are set out in the Statement of 
Responsibilities of the Board. 

My responsibility is to audit the financial statements 
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland).

I report my opinion as to whether the financial 
statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland. I also 
report whether in my opinion proper books of account 
have been kept. In addition, I state whether the financial 
statements are in agreement with the books of account.

I report any material instance where moneys have 
not been applied for the purposes intended or where 
the transactions do not conform to the authorities 
governing them.

I also report if I have not obtained all the information 
and explanations necessary for the purposes of my audit.

I review whether the Statement on Internal Financial 
Control reflects the Agency’s compliance with the 
Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies 
and report any material instance where it does not do 
so, or if the statement is misleading or inconsistent 
with other information of which I am aware from my 
audit of the financial statements. I am not required to 
consider whether the Statement on Internal Financial 
Control covers all financial risks and controls, or to form 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the risk and control 
procedures.

I read other information contained in the Annual Report, 
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 
financial statements. I consider the implications for my 
report if I become aware of any apparent misstatements 
or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.

Basis of Audit Opinion
In the exercise of my function as Comptroller and 
Auditor General, I conducted my audit of the financial 
statements in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board and by reference to the special 
considerations which attach to State bodies in relation 
to their management and operation. An audit includes 
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the 
amounts and disclosures and regularity of the financial 
transactions included in the financial statements. It also 
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and 
judgments made in the preparation of the financial 
statements, and of whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the Agency’s circumstances, consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed.

I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations that I considered necessary 
in order to provide me with sufficient evidence to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming my opinion 
I also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation 
of information in the financial statements.

Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General 
for presentation to the Houses of the Oireachtas
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Opinion
In compliance with the directions of the Minister for 
Health and Children, the Agency recognises the costs 
of superannuation entitlements only as they become 
payable. This basis of accounting does not comply with 
Financial Reporting Standard 17 which requires such 
costs to be recognised in the year the entitlements are 
earned.

Except for the non-recognition of the Agency’s 
superannuation costs and liabilities which is not in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 17, 
the financial statements give a true and fair view, in 
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
in Ireland, of the state of the Agency’s affairs at 31 
December 2008 and of its income and expenditure for 
the year then ended.

In my opinion, proper books of account have been 
kept by the Agency. The financial statements are in 
agreement with the books of account.

Gerard Smyth 
For and on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General
15 June 2009

Financial Statements 2008
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1 Basis of Accounting
The financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles under the 
historical cost convention and the accounting policies 
directed by the Minister for Health and Children. The 
accounting and reporting standards recommended by 
the recognised accountancy bodies are adopted as they 
become operative, except as indicated below. 

2 Grant Income (Revenue Grants)
Grant Income represents the total amount of revenue 
funding from the Department of Health and Children 
recognised on a cash receipts basis for the year.

Grant Income applied for capital purposes resulting in 
additions to fixed assets are capitalised in the Capital 
Account.

3 Programme Expenditure
The Agency provides a wide range of services through 
funded programmes and research activities which 
includes the commissioning of certain services from 
external provider agencies. 

Grants to external service providers are recognised in 
the financial statements based upon amounts payable 
under the conditions set down in signed service level 
agreements approved by the Board. 

4 Fixed Assets
All fixed assets acquisitions, regardless of the source 
of funds, are capitalised with the exception of assets 
funded from Revenue (Non-Capital) grants with a value 
below the following thresholds: 

Office Equipment / Furniture and Fittings etc.   
Less than €3,810 

Computer / ICT Equipment     
Less than €1,270 

Tangible Fixed Assets are stated at their historical cost or 
valuation less accumulated depreciation.
 

Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis at rates 
which are calculated to write off the assets, adjusted for 
estimated residual value, over their expected useful lives 
as follows : 

(i) Leasehold Improvements 10% Straight line
(ii) Furniture and Fittings 12.5 - 25% Straight line
(iii) Computer Equipment 331/3% Straight line

5 Capital Account
The capital account represents the unamortised amount 
of income allocated for the purchase of fixed assets. 

6 Superannuation
The Agency has established a Superannuation Scheme 
with the consent of the Minister for Health and Children 
and the Minister for Finance in accordance with Article 
20 of Statutory Instrument No. 446, 2001, as amended 
by the Crisis Pregnancy Agency (Establishment) Order 
2001 (Amendment) Order 2007 (S.I. No. 175 of 
2007). The Main Scheme is based upon the Model 
Superannuation Scheme for State-sponsored bodies 
which provides for a contributory defined benefit 
pension scheme for all employees. 

Superannuation entitlements arising under the pension 
scheme are funded out of current income of the Agency. 
Pension payments are charged to the Income and 
Expenditure Account in the year in which they become 
payable. 

Contributions from employee salaries under the scheme 
are credited to the Income and Expenditure Account 
when received. 

By direction of the Minister for Health and Children, no 
provision is made in the financial statements in respect of 
future pension benefits payable.

Statement of Accounting Policies
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Note 2008 2007

€ €

Income

Grant Income 1 8,706,132 8,574,000

Other Income 2 45,669 142,694

8,751,801 8,716,694

Transfers from / (to) Capital Account 10 38,155 (3,559)

Total Income 8,789,956 8,713,135

Expenditure

Staff Costs 3 942,770 771,863

Service Programmes 4 7,054,927 7,044,326

Research Projects 5 334,713 397,249

Office and Administration Expenses 6 382,785 509,002

Board Expenses 39,318 36,738

Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets 10 381 -

Total Expenditure 8,754,894 8,759,178

Surplus / (Deficit) for the year 35,062 (46,043)

Accumulated (Deficit) / Surplus at 1 January (30,122) 15,921

Accumulated Surplus / (Deficit) at 31 December 4,940 (30,122)

All recognised gains and losses for the year ended 31st December 2008 have been dealt with 
through the Income and Expenditure Account.

The Statement of Accounting Policies together with Notes 1 to 16 form part of these financial 
statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board:

Chairperson   Director    

Income and Expenditure Account  
for the year ended 31 December 2008

Financial Statements 2008
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Note 2008 2007

€ €

Fixed assets

Tangible Assets 7 65,684 103,839

Current Assets

Debtors and Prepayments 8 23,773 22,782

Cash at Bank and in Hand 46,585 506,628

70,358 529,410

Current Liabilities

Creditors (Amounts falling due within one year) 9 65,418 559,532

Net Current Assets /(Liabilities) 4,940 (30,122)

Total Assets less Current Liabilities 70,624 73,717

Capital and Reserves

Capital Account 10 65,684 103,839

Income and Expenditure Surplus / (Deficit) 4,940 (30,122)

70,624 73,717

The Statement of Accounting Policies together with Notes 1 to 16 form part of these financial 
statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board:

Chairperson   Director    

Balance Sheet  
as at 31 December 2008
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2008 2007

€ €

Reconciliation of Surplus/(Deficit) to Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Surplus / (Deficit) for the year 35,062 (46,043)

Transfer (from) / to Capital Account (38,155) 3,559

Depreciation charge 42,178 48,816

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 381 -

Interest income received for the year - (558)

(Increase) / Decrease in Debtors (991) 117,868

(Decrease) / Increase in Creditors (494,114) 289,257

Net Cash (Outflow) / Inflow from Operating Activities (455,639) 412,899

Cash Flow Statement

Net Cash (Outflow) / Inflow from Operating Activities (455,639) 412,899

Return on Investments and Servicing of Finance

Bank Interest Received - 558

Capital Expenditure

Payments from Revenue Grant to acquire Fixed Assets (4,404) (52,375)

Net Cash (Outflow) / Inflow (460,043) 361,082

(Decrease) / Increase in Cash in the Year (460,043) 361,082

Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Net Funds

(Decrease) / Increase in Cash in the Year (460,043) 361,082

Net Funds at Start of the Year 506,628 145,546

Net Funds at End of the Year 46,585 506,628

Cash Flow Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2008
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 Note 1: Grant Income

2008 2007

€ €

Department of Health and Children – Oireachtas Grant 8,706,132 8,574,000

Note 2: Other Income

2008 2007

€ €

Superannuation Contributions 35,624 141,289

Bank Interest received - 558

Miscellaneous Income 10,045 847

Balance as at 31 December 45,669 142,694

Note 3: Staff Costs

2008 2007

€ €

Wages & Salaries 856,387 701,884

Social Welfare Costs 86,383 69,979

942,770 771,863

Staff Numbers

Senior Management 4 4

Administration 4 4

Service Programmes 4 5

Research and Policy 3 2

15 15
    

The total number of staff employed at 31st December 2008 comprised 7 permanent employees; 8 employees on long-term 
contracts; and zero employees on a short-term temporary contract. In 2007, there were 14 employees classified as ‘permanent’ and 
1 employee on a short-term temporary contract. For 2008, ‘permanent’ employees have now been split between those employees 
on long-term contracts with the Agency and those that are permanent to the life of the Agency.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Note 4: Service Programmes
 2008 2007
 € €

(a) Funding Programmes *  
Core funding 1,616,483 1,648,575
Services and supports for women experiencing crisis pregnancy 1,126,417 1,056,260
Prevention of crisis pregnancy 875,049 721,792
Counselling services 838,623 824,370
New developments 122,016 227,364
Post crisis pregnancy services and supports 96,273 39,377

 4,674,861 4,517,738 
  
(b) Programmes and Communications*
Prevention of crisis pregnancy 1,242,928 1,408,062
Services and supports for women experiencing crisis pregnancy 905,289 941,947
Communication services 88,312 91,887
Post crisis pregnancy services and supports 40,450 21,566
Conferences and seminars - 32,126
Communications partnerships with external agencies 103,087 31,000

 2,380,066 2,526,588 
  
Total  7,054,927 7,044,326 

*Appendices 2 and 3 to the Annual Report analyse the above in further detail. 

Note 5: Research Projects*

2008 2007

€ €

Research grants, bursaries and commissions 190,053 165,833 

Policy & guidelines 20,099 29,201

Dissemination / report production 29,753 66,063

Evaluation of communications initiatives 63,126 37,127

Evaluation of the Strategy 2004-2006 and development of the 
Strategy 2007-2011

- 75,942

Irish Study of Sexual Health and Relationships - 20,213

Policy and partnerships 26,046 -

Research services 5,636 2,870

334,713 397,249

 
*Appendix 4 to the Annual Report analyses the above in further detail. 

Financial Statements 2008
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Note 6: Office & Administration Expenses

2008 2007

€ €

Rent 115,864 115,864

Staff-related expenses 27,714 77,754

Office supplies 42,750 81,663

Utilities and insurance 56,950 66,466

Professional fees 44,210 53,990

Depreciation 42,178 48,816

Fixtures, equipment & ICT - not capitalised 27,992 50,337

Audit fee 12,750 12,750

Building repairs 10,567 334

Miscellaneous 1,810 1,028

382,785 509,002

Note 7: Fixed Assets

Furniture & 

Equipment

ICT 

Hardware 

& Software

Leasehold 

Improvements Total

€ € € € 

Cost

Balance as at 1 January 127,239 170,370 121,503 419,112

Additions – 4,404 – 4,404

Disposals (1,524) – – (1,524)

Balance as at 31 December 125,715 174,774 121,503 421,992

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance as at 1 January 110,089 132,346 72,838 315,273

Charge for the year 7,993 22,034 12,151 42,178

Disposals (1,143) – – (1,143)

Balance as at 31 December 116,939 154,380 84,989 356,308

Net Book Value

Balance as at 31 December 2008 8,776 20,394 36,514 65,684

Balance as at 31 December 2007 17,150 38,024 48,665 103,839

Notes to the Financial Statements



Crisis Pregnancy Agency Annual Report 2008  – 47

Note 8: Debtors and Prepayments

2008 2007

€ €

Prepayments 23,773 22,782

23,773 22,782

Note 9: Creditors and Accruals

2008 2007

€ €

Trade creditors 17,488 504,907

Accruals 47,930 54,625

65,418 559,532

Note 10: Capital account

2008 2007

€ €

Balance as at 1 January 103,839 100,280

Transfer to/(from) Income and Expenditure Account:

Funds allocated to acquire Fixed Assets (capitalised) 4,404 52,375

Amount amortised in line with Asset Depreciation (42,178) (48,816)

(37,774) 3,559

Disposals (381) -

Balance as at 31 December 65,684 103,839

Financial Statements 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Note 11: Contingent Liabilities

The Agency’s lease for office premises was due for 
review on the 15th June 2006. The review was expected 
to take place in 2008 but this has not yet taken place. 
The review is expected to take place in 2009; however, 
an entitlement exists whereby the increase may be 
backdated to the date on which the review was due.

The increase is not expected to be greater than 10%; 
however, at this time both the amount of the increase 
and the exercising of the option to backdate the increase 
remain uncertain. The Agency has therefore elected to 
disclose this as a contingent liability, in accordance with 
Financial Reporting Standard 12, Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Assets.

Note 12: Capital and Other Commitments

(a)  There were no capital commitments as at the 31st of 
December 2008.

(b)  The Agency has commitments under an operating 
lease for office accommodation in respect of the 
property at Capel Street, Dublin with an annual rental 
of e115,864 (2007: e115,864) which is due to 
expire in 2012. This lease provides for rental reviews 
every five years.

As discussed in Note 11, “Contingent Liabilities”, a 
review of the annual rent was due on the 15th June 
2006; however, this has not yet taken place. The increase 
is not expected to be more than 10%; an increase of this 
amount would result in the future commitment being 
e127,450 per annum.

Note 13: Disclosure of Board Members’ Interests

The Board has adopted procedures in accordance with 
guidelines issued by the Department of Finance in 
relation to the disclosure of interests by Board members 
and these procedures were adhered to in the year. 

There were no transactions in the year in relation to 
the Board’s activities in which Board Members had any 
beneficial interest.

Note 14: Related Parties

The Minister for Health and Children is a related party as 
she underwrites the assets and liabilities of the Agency 
and appoints all members of the Board of the Agency.

Note 15: Merger with the Health Service Executive
The Health (Miscellaneous Provisions) Bill 2009 which 
was published in March 2009 provides for the dissolution 
of the Agency and the transfer of its assets, liabilities and 
staff to the Health Service Executive.

Pending the enactment of this legislation and its coming 
into force the financial statements continue to be 
prepared on a going concern basis.

Note 16: Approval of the Financial Statements
The Financial Statements were approved by the Board on 
the 10th of June 2009. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Appendix 1
Code of Ethics

The purpose of this Code of Ethics is to articulate the principles that guide the Crisis Pregnancy 
Agency’s decision-making in light of its responsibilities towards its diverse constituencies. These 
principles will guide the decisions that are made regarding the development, funding and support 
of projects and the Crisis Pregnancy Agency’s research (including the research it funds). The 
principles will form part of the frame of reference when proposals for funding are being assessed. 

In its approach to its work, and in supporting the work of others, the Agency will:
 be respectful of and non-judgmental regarding the choices made by women who face crisis ■■

pregnancy; 
 be respectful of a woman’s autonomy and her right to privacy (within the constraints of the law);■■

be guided by reliable research and good practice in all areas of our work;■■

endeavour to work collaboratively with agencies working in the field;■■

 strive to promote policies that are respectful of the diverse experiences and viewpoints that ■■

exist on this issue;
be supportive of agencies which:■■

 •  use professional approaches to counsel, educate and provide information to the public;
 •  fully inform clients of their organisation’s ethos; 
 •  promote informed decision-making in resolving issues regarding crisis pregnancy and 

related sexual health matters;
 •  use reliable research and responsible monitoring and evaluation methods to ensure 

accountability and good practice;
 •  work to promote equity of access and quality for clients;
 •  provide referrals when the information or service requested by the client is not available.

Appendix 2
Detailed Listing of Funded Projects Analysed by Strategic Priority

Services and supports for women experiencing 
crisis pregnancy

2008 2007

Priority e e

CURA Regional Coordinator 5 64,058 64,058

CURA Post-natal support service (Pilot Project) 5 6,600 5,000

IFPA Speakeasy Programme (Pilot Project)1 - - 33,700

Life Galway Supported Accommodation 5 101,920 101,920

Life Galway Supported Accommodation Rent 5 4,905 4,905

Life Galway Fathers and Family Room 5 7,000 -

Life Cork Administrator 5 63,783 61,939

Life National Coordinator 5 15,397 15,397

1 - Re-classified under ‘Prevention of crisis pregnancy’ from 2008

Appendices
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Life Tullamore Service 5 7,280 7,280

One Family Information Manager 5 66,338 63,216

One Family Education Manager 5 66,338 63,216

One Family Crèche Service 5 31,200 31,200

One Family Receptionist 5 37,855 33,549

Pact 0.5 Social Worker 5 51,238 43,026

Sexual Health Centre Cork - Receptionist 5 44,044 22,022

Sexual Health Centre Cork - Medical Service 5 2,370 3,236

Treoir Information Officer and Support Grant 5 117,984 74,984

Cúnamh Short Term Fostering 5 106,180 104,780

Spring Gardens Care Worker 5 49,455 46,955

Spring Gardens - Workshops 5 674 445

HSE West Family Support Worker 5 49,870 47,650

National Parents Council (Primary) -’Team up’ Training2 - - 37,000

Limerick Social Service Council- Sonas Pre-natal 
Supported Accommodation 5 52,312 52,312

Limerick Social Service Council-Parenting Course 5 740 -

Limerick Social Service Council- Altamira Post-natal 
Supported Accommodation 5 53,104 52,104

Limerick Social Service Council Outreach 5 8,320 8,320

Limerick Social Service Council - City Slickers (Pilot 
Project) 5 5,020 5,016

Teen Parents Support Programme- Louth - Young 
Fathers (Pilot Project) 5 47,250 15,750

Youth Work Ireland, Galway-Young Mothers in 
Education (Pilot Project) 5 30,667 13,333

Mary Immaculate College-Student Parent Coordinator 
(Pilot Project) 5 19,300 10,317

South West Counselling Centre - Workshops for Early 
School Leavers (Pilot Project)2 - - 13,480

South West Counselling Centre – Parenting Courses 5 16,840 -

Kerry Counselling Centre - Parenting Course (Pilot 
Project) - - 7,000

Kerry Counselling Centre - Support Group for Men 
(Pilot Project) - - 4,000

Mountwood Fitzgerald Park Community Development 
Project - Incredible Years (Pilot project) - - 5,400

Youthreach Roscommon (Pilot Project) 5 (1,625) 3,750

1,126,417 1,056,260
    

Services and supports for women experiencing 
crisis pregnancy cont’d

2008 2007

Priority e e

Appendices

2 - Re-classified under ‘Prevention of crisis pregnancy’ from 2008
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Core Funding 2008 2007

Priority e e

CURA Core Counselling 4 637,322 637,322

CURA Outreach (Dingle, Gorey, Drogheda) 4 14,000 10,000

IFPA Core Counselling 4 341,403 341,403

Life Core Counselling 4 177,779 168,916

Well Woman Core Counselling 4 207,920 196,843

One Family Core Counselling 4 162,638 150,268

PACT Core Counselling 4 75,421 75,823

Advertising of Counselling Services3 - - 68,000

1,616,483 1,648,575

Counselling services

IFPA Monaghan, Gorey 4 56,160 18,000

IFPA Counselling Coordination 4 75,765 75,765

IFPA Post Termination Counselling3 - - 49,174

IFPA Training & Supervision 4 12,448 10,873

Life Counselling 2/3 post 4 36,528 36,528

Life Counselling 1/3 post 4 9,275 9,275

Life Voluntary Workers’ Supervision 4 15,600 15,600

Life Accreditation Training 4 5,200 5,200

Life Part-time Counselling 4 18,742 -

Well Woman Post-Termination Counselling4 - - 15,288

One Family Training and Supervision 4 10,150 10,150

PACT Training and Supervision 4 13,283 6,641

PACT Cavan pilot 4 39,355 40,449

Portiuncula Counselling (Ballinasloe Crisis Pregnancy 
Support Service) 4 124,080 124,800

Mayo General Counselling (Mayo Crisis Pregnancy 
Support Service) 4 91,452 85,454

Sexual Health Centre Cork Counselling 4 61,854 72,435

Sexual Health Centre Training and Supervision 4 3,120 7,560

HSE Midlands Counselling (Midlands Crisis Pregnancy 
Support Service) 4 86,112 86,112

HSE Midlands - Crisis Pregnancy Counselling for Men 
(Pilot Project) 4 5,133 3,667

HSE South - West Cork Crisis Pregnancy Counselling 
Service 4 43,748 54,887

3 - Positive Options advertising in Golden Pages transferred from the Funding Programme to the Programmes and Communications budget from 2008
4 - Re-classified under ‘Post crisis pregnancy services and supports’ from 2008

Appendices
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HSE South - Kerry Crisis Pregnancy Counselling 
Service 4 23,928 45,070

HSE South - Youth Health Service Counselling (‘YHS’) 4 69,300 34,650

Cúnamh Training and Supervision 4 3,120 3,120

Femplus Medical Clinic Counselling and Medical 
Service (Pilot Project) 4 34,270 12,700

Consultation day with Service Providers - - 972

838,623 824,370

Prevention of crisis pregnancy

HSE South - Youth Health Service Family Planning 
(‘YHS’) 2 141,450 297,450

HSE South East - Squashy Couch 1 224,752 190,376

Blanchardstown Youth Service - The Zone Youth 
Health Advice Café 1 76,277 55,298

Tallaght Youth Service - The Exit Youth Health Café 1 75,890 48,177

Blanchardstown Youth Service - Male Teenage Health 
Initiative (Pilot Project) 1 66,188 26,072

Carrick on Suir Neighbourhood Youth Project (Pilot 
Project) 1 57,323 16,224

Sexual Health Centre Parents’ Education (Pilot Project) 1 37,734 13,500

Newbridge & Dun Laoghaire Community Training 
Centres – The ‘Real Deal’ (Pilot Project) 1 24,500 24,500

Letterkenny Women’s Centre (Pilot Project) 1 43,466 16,875

Limerick Youth Service (Pilot Project) 1 6,800 6,800

Limerick Social Service Council Sexual Health & 
Relationships Education Programme 1 709 -

University of Limerick Sexual Health Clinic - - 20,280

Well Woman Emergency Contraception Clinic 2 6,240 6,240

South West Counselling Centre - ‘Getting Real’ 
Programme for ESLs5 (Pilot Project) 1 25,720 -

Irish College of General Practitioners - LARC Training 
Programme (Pilot Project) 2 40,000 -

IFPA Speakeasy Programme5 1 30,000 -

National Parents Council (Primary) -’Team up’ Training5 1 18,000

875,049 721,792

Counselling services cont’d 2008 2007

Priority e e

5 - Re-classified from ‘Services and supports for women experiencing crisis pregnancy’ from 2008
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New Developments 2008 2007

Priority e e

Counselling Module Roll-out 4 67,010 173,471

Toolkit for Establishing and Managing Crisis 
Pregnancy Counselling Services 4 33,012 53,893

Mapping exercise 4 17,253 -

Miscellaneous related costs Int 4,741 -

122,016 227,364

Post crisis pregnancy services and supports

IFPA Medical Check (Post Termination) 4 21,285 21,155

IFPA Post Termination Counselling 4 48,027 -

Well Woman Medical Check (Post Termination) 4 11,520 9,465

Well Woman Post Termination Counselling6 4 15,288 -

Sexual Health Centre Cork Medical Check (Post 
Termination) 4 108 8,712

HSE Midlands Medical Check (Post Termination) 4 45 45

96,273 39,377

TOTAL FUNDING BY THE AGENCY 4,674,861 4,517,738

Appendices

Appendices

6 - Re-classified from ‘Counselling Services’ from 2008
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Appendix 3
Programmes & Communications Analysed by Strategic Priority

Prevention of crisis pregnancy 2008 2007

Priority e e

Think Contraception campaign 3 599,989 711,278

Think Contraception campaign redevelopment 3 310,581 -

Ongoing work on RSE resources 1 127,064 323,429

Other communications programmes 3 116,800 89,159

Dissemination of resources 3 59,095 57,687

Think Contraception promotional campaign 2 26,676 176,456

Busy Bodies 1 2,723 50,053

 1,242,928 1,408,062

  

Services and supports for women experiencing crisis pregnancy

Positive Options campaign and text service 3 871,479 879,157

Other communications programmes 3 33,810 62,790

 905,289 941,947

  

Communications services  

Developing the Agency’s communication channels 3 35,271 4,362

Internal communications services Int 53,041 87,525

 88,312 91,887

Post crisis pregnancy services and supports  

Abortion Aftercare resource 3 40,450 -

Other communications programmes - - 21,566

 40,450 21,566

  

Conferences and seminars - - 32,126

  

Communications Partnerships 5 103,087 31,000

  

 TOTAL PROGRAMMES & COMMUNICATIONS 2,380,066 2,526,588
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Appendix 4
Research & Policy Projects Analysed by Strategic Priority

Grants, Bursaries, Commissions 2008 2007

Priority e e

Report on economically disadvantaged young men 6 56,913 32,000

Parents Approaches to Educating their Pre-adolescent 
and Adolescent Children about Sexuality

6 60,000 112,558

Concealed Pregnancy 6 16,000 16,000

Crisis pregnancy and employment / workplace policy 7 57,140 -

Other grants and bursaries (2007) - - 5,275

 190,053 165,833

Guidelines  

Concealed Pregnancy Guidelines 6 8,135 -

Guidelines for crisis pregnancy counsellors 6 11,964 -

Other projects (2007) - - 29,201

 20,099 29,201

  

Dissemination/Report Production  

Sub-reports of ISSHR 2 29,753 20,213

Other dissemination (2007) - - 66,063

 29,753 86,276

  

Evaluation of Communications Initiatives 6 63,126 37,127

  

Policy & Partnerships  

Implementation of RSE in Schools (DES partnership) 1 15,289  -

Cost of contraception 2 7,986  -

Internal policy costs Int 2,771  -

 26,046  -

Internal Research Budget Int 5,636 2,870

  

Strategy development (2007-2011) and 
evaluation (2004-2006)

- 75,942

  

Total Research & Policy  334,713 397,249
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Appendix 5
Membership of the Consultative 
Committee 

In accordance with the Statutory Instrument, the 
function of the Consultative Committee is “to advise the 
Agency in relation to (a) any matters pertaining to crisis 
pregnancy as are referred to it by the Agency and (b) any 
other matters coming within the remit of the Agency.” 

Chairperson
Ms Geraldine Luddy, Director, the Women’s Health 
Council and Board Member, Crisis Pregnancy Agency

Members
Ms Ursula Byrne, Education Officer and representative 
of An Bord Altranais
Reverend Bruce Pierce, representative of the Church of 
Ireland Bishops 
Ms Julie Kerins, Senior Social Worker, Cúnamh, and 
representative of the Council of Irish Adoption Agencies
Ms Louise Graham, National Co-ordinator and 
representative of CURA
Ms Alison Begas, Chief Executive and representative of 
Dublin Well Woman
Ms Frances Shearer, RSE National Co-ordinator and 
representative of the Education Sector 
Ms Catherine Duffy, National Planning Specialist and 
representative of Primary Care, HSE West
Ms Naoimh Kenny, Assistant Director and representative 
of the Irish College of General Practitioners 
Ms Rhonda Donaghy, Chair and representative of ICTU 
Women’s Committee 
Ms Sunniva McDonagh, Barrister at Law and 
representative of the Irish Episcopal Conference 
Ms Rosie Toner, Director of Counselling and 
representative of the IFPA
Ms Kay Garvey, Nurse, and representative of the Irish 
Nurses’ Organisation
Ms Karen Dent, member and representative of the 
National Parents’ Council Post Primary
Ms Salome Mbugua, National Director, AkiDwA, and 
representative of non-Irish nationals

Ms Sherie de Burgh, Director of Counselling and 
representative of One Family
Ms Noelle Shannon, Tániste’s representative 
Ms Rosaleen McDonagh, Project Officer, Pavee Point, 
and representative of the Traveller Community
Ms Margot Doherty, Assistant CEO and representative 
of Treoir 
Mr David Simpson, Training Consultant and Men’s 
Health representative (from June 2008)
Dr. Helen McMillan, Representative of the Institute of 
Obstetrics and Gynaecology (from June 2008)
Ms Roisin Dermody, Disabled Women’s Working Group 
member and People with Disabilities representative (from 
November 2008)
Mr Anthony Muldoon, Welfare Officer, USI and 
representative of Third Level Students (from June 2008)
Ms Jessica Dempsey, Press and Communications 
Officer, the Chambers of Commence of Ireland and 
Employers representative (from September 2008)

Appendix 6: Staff members not in post at 
year end

During the 2008 there were a number of short-term 
appointments to cover temporary vacancies and some 
employees moved on from the Agency. 

Irene Bergin, Acting Administration Manager, to June
Grace Hillis, Receptionist & Director’s PA, to October
Stephanie Killoran, Programmes & Communications 
Officer, to March
Sarah Moran, Programmes & Communications 
Assistant, to March
Dr. Patricia Moriarty, Acting Research & Policy 
Manager, May to October
Tracy Richardson, Programmes & Communications 
Officer, to June 
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